Mechanisms of ligand binding 🕫

Cite as: Biophysics Rev. 1, 011303 (2020); doi: 10.1063/5.0020997 Submitted: 6 July 2020 · Accepted: 9 September 2020 · Published Online: 16 November 2020



Enrico Di Cera^{a)} 🕞

AFFILIATIONS

Edward A. Doisy Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Saint Louis University School of Medicine, St. Louis, Missouri 63104, USA

^{a)}Author to whom correspondence should be addressed: enrico@slu.edu

ABSTRACT

Many processes in chemistry and biology involve interactions of a ligand with its molecular target. Interest in the mechanism governing such interactions has dominated theoretical and experimental analysis for over a century. The interpretation of molecular recognition has evolved from a simple rigid body association of the ligand with its target to appreciation of the key role played by conformational transitions. Two conceptually distinct descriptions have had a profound impact on our understanding of mechanisms of ligand binding. The first description, referred to as induced fit, assumes that conformational changes follow the initial binding step to optimize the complex between the ligand and its target. The second description, referred to as conformational selection, assumes that the free target exists in multiple conformations in equilibrium and that the ligand selects the optimal one for binding. Both descriptions can be merged into more complex reaction schemes that better describe the functional repertoire of macromolecular systems. This review deals with basic mechanisms of ligand binding, with special emphasis on induced fit, conformational selection, and their mathematical foundations to provide rigorous context for the analysis and interpretation of experimental data. We show that conformational selection is a surprisingly versatile mechanism that includes induced fit as a mathematical special case and even captures kinetic properties of more complex reaction schemes. These features make conformational selection a dominant mechanism of molecular recognition in biology, consistent with the rich conformational landscape accessible to biological macromolecules being unraveled by structural biology.

© 2020 Author(s). All article content, except where otherwise noted, is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/). https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0020997

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. INTRODUCTION	1
II. ONE STEP REACTION MECHANISM	2
III. TWO STEP REACTION MECHANISM: THE RAPID	
EQUILIBRIUM APPROXIMATION	4
IV. A PARADOX	e
V. IF IN THE GENERAL CASE	8
VI. CS IN THE GENERAL CASE	9
VII. IF AS A MATHEMATICAL SPECIAL CASE OF CS .	12
VIII. DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN IF AND CS	14
IX. THE LINKAGE SCHEME	17
X. OTHER MECHANISMS OF BINDING	18
XI. DISCUSSION	22
AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS	22

I. INTRODUCTION

The binding of a ligand to its target is central to many processes in chemistry and biology. For this reason, theoretical treatments of the equilibrium and kinetic underpinnings of ligand binding have occupied researchers for well over a century. The first attempt to rationalize the reversible encounter of a ligand with a biological macromolecule to produce a complex was proposed by Fischer in 1894¹ as a lock-andkey mechanism of recognition, envisioning a nearly perfect shape complementarity between the ligand and its binding site. Structural rigidity of the ligand and its target dictate the rules for specificity in this mechanism and explain changes in affinity among different ligands binding to the same target or of the same ligand binding to different targets. Fischer's original idea remains relevant to this day in drug design, where pharmacological leads are progressively rigidified to promote shape complementarity with their biological target.² It took several decades for the scientific community to realize that biological macromolecules are intrinsically flexible and may affect the energetics of ligand recognition by changing the shape of the binding site. In 1951, Wyman and Allen proposed a radical new explanation for hemoglobin's Bohr effect, i.e., the linkage between pH and oxygen binding, based on alternative conformations accessible to the protein.³ Later on, Eigen envisioned multiple preexisting states for a host

controlling ionic interactions in solution⁴ and Koshland extended the lock-and-key mechanism to account for a conformational rearrangement following the initial encounter to produce a more stable complex through a mechanism that he called "induced fit."⁵ Development of the allosteric concept^{6,7} soon led to the celebrated Monod-Wyman-Changeux model of protein allostery based on a preexisting equilibrium between alternative conformations with different ligand binding affinity.⁸ The elegance of this model stems from the complexity of functional behaviors and cooperativity made possible by a simple linkage established between ligand binding and conformational transitions. An equally elegant model developed by Koshland, Nemethy, and Filmer envisioned linkages with conformational transitions taking place at each step of ligation and through nearest-neighbor interactions for multimeric proteins.9 The advent of X-ray structural biology and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) has firmly established the conformational plasticity of biological macromolecules^{10,11} and its relevance to drug design.¹² Valuable extensions of the original allosteric concept have been presented¹³⁻¹⁷ and now include a dynamic view of protein conformations generated by folding and binding along an ensemble of accessible states.^{11,18-21} The current challenge for the experimentalist is to decipher the signatures of such emerging complexity from analysis of experimental data. The goal is to produce a coherent description of ligand binding that is consistent with both structural and functional data.

This review focuses on the analysis and interpretation of the kinetics of ligand binding mechanisms that are key to establishing a correlation with structure and any linked conformational transition. Our treatment deals with the most common situation encountered in practice, i.e., the reaction of a ligand with a single site on its target. Emphasis is given to the mathematical underpinnings of this interaction when studied through its kinetic components. We show that even this simple interaction may give rise to substantial functional complexity through the interplay of ligand binding and conformational transitions. A rigorous understanding of this complexity is critical for the correct interpretation of experimental data, the validation of structural information, and to advance basic knowledge and translational applications. Our discussion complements and updates excellent contributions available through monographs^{22–25} and reviews^{26–29} that should be consulted to expand on the topics presented here.

II. ONE STEP REACTION MECHANISM

The phenomenological approach to ligand binding to a biological macromolecule at equilibrium, in a closed system under conditions of constant temperature and pressure, is based on the formulation of a partition function as a polynomial expansion in the ligand activity x of degree N, equal to the number of binding sites.^{25,30} All relevant thermodynamic quantities are related to this "binding polynomial"^{31,32} by simple transformations and offer a rigorous interpretation of the underlying energetics, yet provide little insight into the molecular mechanism of recognition. This is because the polynomial takes the same general form once the value of N is defined, regardless of the number of conformations involved. The kinetic treatment of ligand binding to a biological macromolecule depends not only on the number of distinct ligated species in the system but also on their conformations. Both ligation and conformational states define the dimensionality of the system and contribute to the possible reaction trajectories.²⁴ Unlike equilibrium, kinetics may find differences among

various mechanisms even for systems that share the same value of ligand binding sites, N. Hence, the mathematical treatment of the kinetic properties of a system can be quite complex, even for the simplest case of ligand binding to a biological macromolecule containing a single site (N = 1). From this complexity comes the ability to infer precious information on the mechanism of ligand binding that is not possible to extract from the equilibrium treatment.

We start our discussion with a reaction scheme describing the transition of a system between two states, i.e.,

$$E_1 \underset{k_{21}}{\overset{k_{12}}{\rightleftharpoons}} E_2. \tag{1}$$

For the sake of clarity, we shall focus on the case where the "system" represents a biological macromolecule and the "states" refer to distinct conformations, e.g., folded and unfolded, or open and closed. The reaction in Eq. (1) is completely defined by the first-order rate constants k_{12} and k_{21} , measured in s⁻¹, reflecting the forward and reverse transitions between E_1 and E_2 . Under the assumptions that the system is closed and the macromolecule does not change its aggregation state, the time evolution of the two species in Eq. (1) is given by the differential equations

$$\begin{pmatrix} dE_1/dt \\ dE_2/dt \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -k_{12} & k_{21} \\ k_{12} & -k_{21} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} E_1 \\ E_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2)

Equilibrium is reached in the limit $t \to \infty$ where the ratio

$$K_{12} = \frac{k_{12}}{k_{21}} = \frac{E_2(\infty)}{E_1(\infty)}$$
(3)

defines the dimensionless equilibrium constant, K_{12} , as the ratio of the populations of E_2 and E_1 at $t = \infty$. The value of K_{12} can be the same for different combinations of k_{12} and k_{21} , so long as their ratio remains unchanged. Hence, information on the equilibrium properties of the system depends on a single independent constant, K_{12} , from which the two independent rate constants, k_{12} and k_{21} , that define how the macromolecule transitions between E_1 and E_2 cannot be resolved. Once the value of K_{12} is known, the fraction of macromolecules in-state, E_1 and E_2 , can be calculated as

$$f_1 = \frac{k_{21}}{k_{12} + k_{21}} = \frac{1}{1 + K_{12}}$$
(4a)

$$f_2 = \frac{k_{12}}{k_{12} + k_{21}} = \frac{K_{12}}{1 + K_{12}}.$$
 (4b)

The information conveyed by f_1 and f_2 is purely phenomenological and states which of the two conformations, E_1 or E_2 , is more populated at equilibrium as a result of k_{12} being faster than k_{21} , or vice versa. The exact values of k_{12} and k_{21} remain undetermined and so is the timescale of the transitions $E_1 \rightarrow E_2$ and $E_1 \leftarrow E_2$ defined as the inverse value of k_{12} and k_{21} .^{22,28} An additional relationship between k_{12} and k_{21} is derived from measurements of the time-dependent evolution of the system, i.e.,

$$E_1(t) = E_1(\infty) + [E_1(0) - E_1(\infty)]e^{-\alpha t}$$
(5a)

$$E_2(t) = E_2(\infty) + [E_2(0) - E_2(\infty)]e^{-\alpha t},$$
(5b)

where $E_i(\infty)$ and $E_i(0)$ are the values of $E_i(t)$ at $t = \infty$ and t = 0, respectively (i = 1, 2). The quantity

$$\alpha = k_{12} + k_{21} \tag{6}$$

defines the rate of relaxation to equilibrium and is equal to the nonzero eigenvalue, with reversed sign, of the matrix of rate constants in Eq. (2). The symmetry of Eq. (6) is noteworthy. Regardless of whether k_{12} is faster or slower than k_{21} , equilibrium is always attained with the same rate, or within the same timescale defined as the inverse value of α . Furthermore, the rate of approach to equilibrium, α , is always faster than the fastest individual transitions k_{12} and k_{21} , ^{22–24} i.e., the rate at which E_1 and E_2 reach equilibrium is always faster than the individual forward and reverse transitions $E_1 \rightarrow E_2$ and $E_1 \leftarrow E_2$. However, as seen in the case of the equilibrium constant K_{12} , the value of α is a single number from which the individual rate constants k_{12} and k_{21} cannot be resolved unambiguously. Knowledge of both K_{12} and α is necessary to resolve the rates for the individual transitions $E_1 \rightarrow E_2$ and $E_1 \leftarrow E_2$ and confirm the validity of the mechanism in Eq. (1) through consistency of Eqs. (3) and (6).

The foregoing example details basic differences between equilibrium and kinetics treatments for the scheme in Eq. (1), but shows that both approaches are necessary to resolve the underlying rate constants. Consider next the case where the two-state reaction scheme in Eq. (1) is perturbed by a dimensionless factor δ that changes the rate of the $E_1 \rightarrow E_2$ transition. Analogous perturbation of the reverse $E_1 \leftarrow E_2$ transition obeys the same mathematical treatment because of the intrinsic symmetry of Eq. (1). The relevant reaction scheme becomes

$$E_1 \underset{k_{21}}{\overset{k_{12}\delta}{\rightleftharpoons}} E_2, \tag{7}$$

and the rate of relaxation to equilibrium is

$$\alpha(\delta) = k_{12}\delta + k_{21}.\tag{8}$$

Introduction of the perturbation generates a strategy to resolve the individual rate constants k_{12} and k_{21} from measurements of $\alpha(\delta)$ as a function of δ (Fig. 1). The resulting plot is a straight line, with slope k_{12} and intercept k_{21} . Knowledge of these independent rate constants also defines the value of the equilibrium constant K_{12} through Eq. (3)



FIG. 1. Dependence of the rate of relaxation to equilibrium, $\alpha(\delta)$, as a function of the perturbation factor δ . The plot is a straight line from which the individual rate constants of the mechanism in Eq. (7) can be resolved as the slope (k_{12}) and intercept (k_{21}).

and makes independent measurement of this parameter only needed to confirm validity of the kinetic experiment. In principle, a method that measures the value of α under the effect of a perturbation δ will be able to resolve the independent rate constants defining the mechanism in Eq. (1).

Consider the case where the perturbation factor δ in Eq. (7) measures the activity or concentration *x* of a ligand *X* binding to a biological macromolecule *E* to generate the complex *EX*. For the sake of simplicity, we assume that the ligand is in large excess over the macromolecule and that its concentration does not change significantly as a result of the binding interaction. This is the so-called pseudo-first-order approximation and describes the conditions most commonly encountered in practice.^{22,23} We also assume that the ligand binds to a single site and that binding does not change the aggregation state of the macromolecule. Under these assumptions, Eq. (7) describes binding of a ligand to a biological macromolecule according to the scheme

$$E \underset{k_{off}}{\overset{k_{on}x}{\longleftrightarrow}} EX.$$
(9)

The rate constant k_{on} has dimensions of $M^{-1}s^{-1}$ and is no longer first-order as in Eq. (1) or (7) but second-order because the perturbation factor depends on the concentration of the ligand. The rate constant k_{off} retains its first-order dimensionality in s⁻¹ and measures the rate of dissociation of the complex EX into the parent species E and X. Unlike k_{12} and k_{21} in Eq. (1) or (7), the values of k_{on} and k_{off} have different dimensionality and cannot be compared directly. Additional distinctions must be considered. Processes that are first-order, as those described in Eq. (1), are minimally affected by translational and rotational diffusion that is extremely important in the second-order rate constant of association for binding interactions.²⁷ This is a reason why biological interactions should be studied in solution with techniques like stopped flow,³³ temperature jump,⁴ or NMR,³³ rather than surface plasmon resonance where the macromolecule or the ligand are immobilized to a matrix.³⁴ Elimination of translational and rotational degrees of freedom may bias the measured rate constant for ligand association and may return incorrect values for the equilibrium binding constant. Additional differences between first-order and secondorder rate constants is that the latter tend to be extremely sensitive to electrostatics and solution conditions, especially salt concentration.²⁶ Information on the values of k_{on} and k_{off} is critical to arrive at the equilibrium dissociation constant $K_d = \frac{k_{off}}{k_{off}}$.³⁰ The value of K_d defines the strength of interaction and establishes the relative affinity of different ligands binding to the same target or of the same ligand binding to different targets. Changes in K_d also give information on how the interaction is affected by changes in solution conditions, temperature, pressure, or mutations introduced in the system.³⁰ Although this is relevant information about the properties of the system, the value of K_d provides a rather "static" interpretation of the interaction. Information of major biological and biophysical interest is contained in the individual rate constants k_{on} and k_{off} . Importantly, the value of k_{on} is limited by diffusion to about $6.5 \times 10^8 \,\mathrm{M^{-1} s^{-1}}$ under physiological condiand each system has optimized this value based on evolutions,^{27,35} tionary needs of increased affinity and speed. Relevant examples are values of k_{on} in the 10⁶-10⁸ M⁻¹s⁻¹ range observed in toxins that neutralize the function of ion channels³⁶ or neural transmission³⁷ to cause paralysis in the prey and inhibitors of coagulation factors that cause

the prey to bleed to death³⁸ or rapidly neutralize the action of nucleases in degrading RNA.^{27,39} Binding affinity can also be optimized by reducing the value of k_{off} , especially when the value of k_{on} has maxed out. Although this may not be convenient in signaling pathways that require fast rates of association and rapid switch of on and off signals,⁴⁰ it often becomes desirable in drug design to increase the so-called "residence time" of a therapeutic molecule on its target.²⁸ Indeed, successful drug design is a balancing act between optimizing k_{on} for rapid association and limiting k_{off} to increase stability of the complex with the biological target. In general, when molecules compete for the same target, binding at the diffusion controlled limit provides a source of selection, as shown convincingly by the binding of various psychoactive substances to the membrane transporters for the monoamines serotonin and dopamine,⁴¹ but so does modulation of k_{off} among competing ligands that have optimized their k_{on} .⁴²

The reaction scheme in Eq. (9) offers the simplest possible interpretation of a binding interaction in terms of the so-called lock-andkey mechanism as envisioned by Fischer back in 1894¹ at a time when biological macromolecules were thought of as rigid bodies, in contrast to the current view that they are inherently dynamic.^{10,43–48} In this mechanism, ligand and its biological target are preconfigured for optimal binding through a rigid body association. When the properties of the system are studied in the approach to equilibrium using an apparatus for rapid kinetics, the relaxation obeys a straight line, as a function of the ligand concentration x and the values of k_{on} and k_{off} are the slopes and intercept of the plot, i.e.,

$$\alpha(x) = k_{on}x + k_{off},\tag{10}$$

which is analogous to Eq. (8). We stress that the range of processes that can be studied experimentally through relaxation kinetics is limited by the time resolution of the system. Another important limiting factor is that the processes accessible to experimental measurements are always the slowest ones in the reaction, relative to the resolution of the instrument. Any conformational transition [Eq. (1)] or binding interaction [Eq. (9)] that takes place on a timescale faster than the range of detection of the instrument will be undetected. A stopped flow is restricted by the dead time of the instrument to values < 500 s⁻¹ but a continuous flow apparatus can detect much faster rates, in the 2000–20 000 s⁻¹ range.⁴⁹ Even faster ranges in the 10^{5} – 10^{6} s⁻¹ range can be detected by temperature jump if the reaction is linked to sufficient perturbation of affinity linked to temperature changes.^{4,15} An example of the plot in Eq. (10) is given in Fig. 2 for the case of the tripeptide H-D-Phe-Pro-Arg-p-nitroanilide (FPR) binding to the active site of the mutant D194A of the clotting protease thrombin.⁵⁰ The binding mechanism is consistent with a lock-and-key, rigid body type of association with values of $k_{on} = 1.3 \pm 0.1 \times 10^{6} \text{ M}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ in the diffusion-limited rate range and a relatively fast k_{off} $= 8.5 \pm 0.5 \text{ s}^{-1}$, corresponding to a value of the equilibrium constant $K_d = 6.5 \pm 0.6 \,\mu$ M. There are several interactions in biology that obey Eq. (9) and give a linear plot of the relaxation to equilibrium as shown in Fig. 2. They are particularly relevant to drug design where binding is optimized by restricting the conformational landscape of the ligand.^{2,2} ^{8,51} Conformational changes may pose challenges in the design of optimal inhibitors of biological targets.¹² However, the widely accepted importance of protein flexibility in biomolecular recognition suggests increasing target flexibility in the bound state by ligand design as a new strategy for drug discovery.⁵



FIG. 2. Rapid kinetics of FPR binding to the thrombin mutant D194A.⁵⁰ The straight line was drawn according to Eq. (10) with best-fit parameter values $k_{on} = 1.3 \pm 0.1 \,\mu$ M⁻¹s⁻¹ and $k_{off} = 8.5 \pm 0.1 \,\text{s}^{-1}$. The plot is consistent with a lock-and-key mechanism of interaction [Eq. (9)] between the tripeptide FPR and the thrombin mutant. Experimental conditions are: 400 mM ChCl, 50 mM Tris, 0.1% PEG8000, pH 8.0 at 15 °C.

III. TWO STEP REACTION MECHANISM: THE RAPID EQUILIBRIUM APPROXIMATION

The lock-and-key mechanism assumes that the ligand and its target interact without any linked conformational transitions and offers a valuable reference point for the interpretation of more complex binding mechanisms. Whenever binding is involved, there will be a relaxation that increases linearly with the ligand concentration as predicted by Eq. (10). This conclusion holds true regardless of the complexity of the reaction mechanism. As early as 1951, Wyman and Allen drew attention to conformational changes as possible driving forces for binding and linkage effects in hemoglobin,³ and set in motion a conceptual revolution that would culminate with formulation of the celebrated allosteric concept a few years later.^{6–8} Conformational changes linked to binding are also relevant to enzyme kinetics when investigating the microscopic pathway for ligand binding in the kinetic mechanism and the overall rate to form the active Michaelis complex. When the binding step is rate-limiting for catalysis, it will depend on the viscosity of the solution. The lack of such dependence suggests the presence of a conformational change and raises the question as to whether it follows or precedes the binding step. The two possible cases linking the basic lock-and-key mechanism describing binding [Eq. (9)] with an elementary conformational transition [Eq (1)] are discussed below. In the first case, the conformational change follows the binding step and defines the so-called induced fit (IF) mechanism first proposed by Koshland.⁵ In the second case, the conformational change precedes the binding step and defines the so-called pre-equilibrium mechanism first proposed by Eigen⁴ and later on cast in a more structural context⁴⁴ as conformational selection (CS). Under the assumptions used for the lock-and-key mechanism in Eq. (9), the relevant reaction scheme for IF is

$$E \underset{k_{off}}{\overset{k_{on}x}{\longleftrightarrow}} EX \underset{k_{32}}{\overset{k_{23}}{\leftrightarrow}} E'X.$$
(11)

The first step in the reaction scheme is identical to the lock-and-key mechanism [Eq. (9)]. The second step describes a conformational rearrangement of the complex into a new final state and is analogous to the two-state reaction scheme in Eq. (1). The relevant reaction scheme for CS is

scitation.org/journal/bpr

$$E^* \stackrel{k_{12}}{\underset{k_{21}}{\longleftrightarrow}} E \stackrel{k_{on}x}{\underset{k_{off}}{\rightleftharpoons}} EX.$$
(12)

The first step describes a conformational rearrangement analogous to Eq. (1) that preexists in the biological macromolecule before the binding event, and the second step is identical to the lock-and-key mechanism [Eq (9)]. Both IF and CS merge a basic one-step mechanism involving binding [Eq. (9)] and conformational transitions [Eq. (1)] but in reverse order. A challenge for the experimentalist is to establish which mechanism, IF or CS, is at play and how the rates describing the conformational changes can be measured from analysis of experimental data.

The two schemes in Eqs. (11) and (12) feature a similar topology where two one-step reactions are arranged in reversed order. This presages very different kinetics for IF and CS and suggests that the two mechanisms are intrinsically distinct and mathematically irreducible. A number of considerations support such a conclusion. When the ligand concentration decreases ($x \rightarrow 0$), IF collapses toward a single conformation E, whereas CS defines the $E^* \rightleftharpoons E$ preexisting equilibrium between the two possible conformations of the macromolecule. The opposite happens when the ligand concentration increases $(x \to \infty)$: IF defines the $EX \rightleftharpoons E'X$ equilibrium between the two possible conformations of the complex whereas CS collapses toward the single conformation EX. The number of conformations linked to binding progressively increases for IF but decreases for CS, i.e., IF generates new conformations as a result of the binding interaction but CS reduces the number of conformations from the preexisting ones when binding occurs. There are three species that define Eqs. (11) and (12). Because the system is closed and mass is conserved, only two of these species are independent, and there are only two independent non-zero relaxations associated with each reaction scheme: one reflects binding and eventually increases linearly with x as seen for Eq. (10), the other reflects conformational transitions and features a distinct behavior for IF and CS. In the former case, the rate associated with the conformational transition increases with x as the macromolecule transitions from a single free conformation E to an equilibrium between two bound conformations $EX \rightleftharpoons E'X$. In the latter case, the opposite is observed, and the rate associated with the conformational transition decreases with x as the macromolecule goes from an equilibrium between two free conformations $E^* \rightleftharpoons E$ to a single bound conformation EX. These are intuitive expectations about the kinetics of IF and CS based on simple inspection of the topology of the two reaction schemes in Eqs. (11) and (12). They imply that IF and CS are mutually exclusive mechanisms of recognition, offering distinct and irreducible interpretations of the linkage between binding and conformational transitions.²

Support for the foregoing conclusion comes from analysis of the functional behavior of the two mechanisms when binding takes place on a significantly faster timescale than conformational transitions, i.e., under the so-called "rapid equilibrium approximation."^{22,23} The condition can be understood by comparing the rates of relaxation to equilibrium for a conformational transition [Eq. (6)] and binding [Eq. (10)]. The rate is constant for the former process but increases linearly with the ligand concentration for the latter. At high enough values of *x*, binding will always be faster than any linked conformational change. When the rate of ligand dissociation k_{off} is faster than the rates associated with conformational transitions, binding will reach

equilibrium faster than the associated conformational change, and the two relaxations associated with IF and CS become separated by widely different time scales. Binding, if not too fast to detect by a stopped flow apparatus, will follow a straight line, according to Eq. (10). The conformational change will unfold over a slow timescale, typically within the range of detection of the stopped flow apparatus. Under these conditions, the two schemes in Eqs. (11) and (12) contract into

$$\langle E|EX\rangle \stackrel{k_{23}}{\underset{k_{32}}{\leftrightarrow}} E'X$$
 (13a)

$$E^* \stackrel{k_{12}}{\underset{k_{21}}{\longleftrightarrow}} \langle E | EX \rangle_{.} \tag{13b}$$

The term $\langle E|EX\rangle$ denotes an equilibrium distribution of free and bound species. The "contracted" reaction schemes in Eqs. (13a) and (13b) are equivalent to a two-state reaction [Eq. (1)] involving a conformational exchange between two bound forms for IF [Eq. (13a)] or two free forms for CS [Eq. (13b)]. Of the two species in Eqs. (13a) and (13b), only one is independent, and the kinetics of the systems is governed by a single relaxation rate

$$\alpha(x) = k_{23} \frac{x}{K_d + x} + k_{32} = k_{23}f + k_{32}$$
(14a)

$$\alpha(x) = k_{12} + k_{21} \frac{K_d}{K_d + x} = k_{12} + k_{21}(1 - f), \quad (14b)$$

where f is the fractional saturation of the macromolecule within the $\langle E|EX\rangle$ equilibrium [see also Eqs. (4a) and (4b)]. It is important to recognize the similarity of Eqs. (14a) and (14b) with Eq. (8). In the case of IF, the value of k_{23} is perturbed by the fraction of macromolecules in the bound form within the $\langle E|EX\rangle$ equilibrium. In the case of CS, the value of k_{21} is perturbed by the fraction of macromolecules in the free form within the $\langle E|EX\rangle$ equilibrium. The expressions in Eqs. (14a) and (14b) reduce the independent parameters in Eqs. (11) and (12) from four to three and enable resolution of all relevant constants from analysis of a single relaxation. The relaxation is saturable, and the three independent parameters are resolved as the limiting values at high and low ligand concentration, plus the mid-point of the transition between these values. Another attractive feature of the simplification generated by the rapid equilibrium approximation is that IF and CS can easily be distinguished from analysis of experimental data because they make very different predictions about the properties of the slow relaxation. The expression associated with IF [Eq. (14a)] predicts a saturable hyperbolic *increase* in $\alpha(x)$ with *x*, from a value of k_{32} to a plateau of $k_{23} + k_{32}$. The expression associated with CS [Eq. (14b)] predicts a saturable hyperbolic *decrease* in $\alpha(x)$ with *x*, from a value of $k_{12} + k_{21}$ to a plateau of k_{12} . The kinetics of a large number of systems have been interpreted using the rapid equilibrium approximation. In turn, the prevalence of systems featuring a saturable relaxation increasing hyperbolically with x has fostered the notion that IF is the dominant mechanism of molecular recognition in biology, with CS documented only in a handful of cases.²⁴

As an example of a biologically relevant system obeying the rapid equilibrium approximation, we discuss the case of glucose binding to glucokinase.⁵⁴ Rapid kinetics of glucose binding to the enzyme obey two relaxations over widely separated time scales [Fig. 3(A)]. The fast relaxation increases linearly with glucose concentration with values of $k_{on} = 0.53 \pm 0.04 \times 10^3 \, {\rm M}^{-1} {\rm s}^{-1}$ much smaller than the



FIG. 3. (A) Rates of relaxation for glucose binding to glucokinase.⁵⁴ The original report used the rapid equilibrium approximation to assign the mechanism as IF [Eq. (13a)] because the two relaxations are widely separated. Interpretation of the fast relaxation according to Eq. (10) yields best-fit parameter values $k_{on} = 0.53 \pm 0.02 \text{ mM}^{-1}\text{s}^{-1}$ and $k_{off} = 7.9 \pm 0.5 \text{s}^{-1}$, with a predicted $K_d = 15 \pm 1 \text{ mM}$. Analysis of the slow relaxation according to Eq. (14a) gives best-fit parameter values $k_{23} = 0.24 \pm 0.01 \text{ s}^{-1}$, $k_{32} = 0.46 \pm 0.02 \text{ s}^{-1}$, and $K_d = 4.7 \pm 0.4 \text{ mM}$, which is threefold different from the value predicted by the fit of the fast relaxation. The relevant parameters of IF are indicated in the plot as the intercept (k_{off}) and slope (k_{on}) for the fast relaxation, and the lower (k_{32}) or upper ($k_{23} + k_{32}$) limits for the slow relaxation. The mid-point of the transition in the slow relaxation gives a value of K_d that differs from that predicted by the fast relaxation. (B) Crystal structures of glucokinase free and bound to glucose used in support of the IF mechanism [Eq. (11)]. The free form (right) assumes an open conformation⁵⁵ and binding of glucose induces a large conformational change (left) that closes the active site region around the ligand.⁵⁶ Panel (A) adapted with permission from Ref. 59.

diffusion-limited rate and $k_{off} = 7.9 \pm 0.8 \text{ s}^{-1}$, corresponding to a value of the intrinsic equilibrium dissociation constant $K_d = 15 \pm 1 \text{ mM}$. The slow relaxation increases hyperbolically with the glucose concentration from a value of $k_{32} = 0.24 \pm 0.02 \text{ s}^{-1}$ to the sum $k_{23} + k_{32} = 0.46 \pm 0.04 \text{ s}^{-1}$. In this interpretation, glucose binds to glucokinase with a very low affinity and then induces a slow conformational change that optimizes the initial encounter into a final complex. IF causes a strengthening of the initial interaction with a resulting apparent equilibrium dissociation constant

$$K_{d,app} = \frac{E(\infty)}{EX(\infty) + E'X(\infty)} x = \frac{k_{off}k_{32}}{k_{on}k_{32} + k_{on}k_{23}} = K_d \frac{k_{32}}{k_{32} + k_{23}}$$
(15)

that is lower than the intrinsic K_d measured as the ratio $K_d = \frac{k_{off}}{k_{on}}$. The value of $K_{d,app}$ would be measured from titration of glucokinase with glucose at equilibrium and would overestimate the affinity of the initial encounter by a factor of 2. When a binding interaction is interpreted in terms of IF, the affinity measured at equilibrium is the result of an optimized fit and always overestimates the affinity of the initial encounter. Evidence from structural biology has been used to support the IF mechanism for glucokinase [Fig. 3(B)]: the free form assumes an open conformation⁵⁵ and binding of glucose induces a large conformational change that closes the active site region around the ligand.⁵⁶

The case of Na⁺ binding to the clotting protease thrombin offers a relevant example of CS under the rapid equilibrium approximation. In this case, the fast relaxation pertaining to Na⁺ binding is too fast to measure by stopped flow and requires alternative experimental approaches.⁴⁹ The slow relaxation can be measured by stopped flow and decreases hyperbolically with the Na⁺ concentration from the sum $k_{12} + k_{21} = 570 \pm 40 \, \text{s}^{-1}$ to the value of $k_{12} = 88 \pm 7 \, \text{s}^{-1}$ [Fig. 4(A)]. Binding takes place to only one of two alternative conformations of the Na⁺ site that preexists in equilibrium and with a value of the equilibrium constant $K_d = 1.7 \pm 0.1$ mM. Structural biology supports the CS mechanism for Na⁺ binding to thrombin [Fig. 4(B)]: the pore of access to the buried Na⁺ site is open or closed in the free form, and Na⁺ binds to the open conformation with minimal changes of the structure.^{57,58} As a result of the pre-equilibrium, CS produces an apparent equilibrium dissociation constant

$$K_{d,app} = \frac{E^*(\infty) + E(\infty)}{EX(\infty)} x = \frac{k_{off}(k_{21} + k_{12})}{k_{on}k_{12}} = K_d \frac{k_{21} + k_{12}}{k_{12}}$$
(16)

that is always higher than the intrinsic K_d . As for the case of glucose binding to glucokinase, the value of $K_{d,app}$ would be measured from titration of Na⁺ with thrombin at equilibrium, but would underestimate the affinity of the binding interaction to the *E* form by a factor of 9. When a binding interaction is interpreted in terms of CS, the affinity measured at equilibrium is the result of binding to a fraction of the total population of targets and always underestimates the affinity of binding to this population.

IV. A PARADOX

Although the rapid equilibrium approximation has attractive features and simplifies the mathematical expressions required to fit experimental data, it has potential limitations that may bias interpretation of the binding mechanism. Consider the case shown in Fig. 5(A) where the tripeptide FPR binds to the W215A mutant of thrombin according to a single saturable relaxation that increases hyperbolically with the ligand concentration x.⁵⁹ The absence of a fast relaxation linked to the binding of FPR may be due to values of k_{on} and k_{off} too fast to measure by stopped flow, or to silencing of the spectral signal linked to FPR binding due to mutation of W215, which is known to be a major fluorophore.⁶⁰ When the data in Fig. 5(A) are interpreted according to IF under the rapid equilibrium approximation [Eq. (13a)], the relaxation measures the conformational transition of the thrombin-FPR intermediate to a final complex. The rate constants for



FIG. 4. (A) Rate of relaxation for Na⁺ binding to the thrombin mutant S195A. For this interaction, only a slow relaxation decreasing with ligand concentration could be measured experimentally, providing direct and unequivocal support for the mechanism of CS [Eq. (12)]. Analysis of the slow relaxation according to Eq. (14b) gives best-fit parameter values $k_{12} = 88 \pm 7 \, \text{s}^{-1}$, $k_{21} = 480 \pm 30 \, \text{s}^{-1}$ and $K_d = 1.7 \pm 0.1 \, \text{mM}$. The relevant parameters of CS are indicated in the plot as the limits for high (k_{12}) and low ($k_{12} + k_{21}$) ligand concentration. The mid-point of the transition gives the value of K_d . Experimental conditions are: 400 mM ChCl, 50 mM Tris, 0.1% PEG8000, pH 8.0, at 25 °C. (B) Crystal structures of thrombin reveal two conformations of the pore of entry of Na⁺ defined by residues in the 180 and 220 loops. The pore is rendered in surface representation with relevant residues labeled (middle) and colored according to their electrostatic properties (blue: positively charged; red: negatively charged; orange: hydrophobic; yellow: neutral). In the free form (left and middle), the pore is in equilibrium between open (middle)⁵⁷ and closed (left)⁵⁸ forms. Binding of Na⁺ (cyan ball) takes place in the open form of the pore (right) with minimal conformational changes.⁵⁷

this exchange are derived from the lower asymptote of the plot as $k_{32} = 6.3 \pm 0.5 \text{ s}^{-1}$ and the upper asymptote as the sum $k_{23} + k_{32}$ = 90 \pm 8 s⁻¹, with K_d = 280 \pm 20 μ M. In this case, the value of k_{32} is 13-fold higher than k_{23} , and the resulting value of $K_{d,app} = 20 \pm 2 \,\mu\text{M}$ overestimates the affinity of the initial encounter by nearly 15-fold. When the same mutant interacts with the tripeptide H-D-Phe-Pro-Lys-p-nitroanilide (FPK), which differs from FPR for the presence of a Lys residue at the position occupied by Arg in FPR, a similar dependence of the relaxation is obtained with values of $k_{32} = 35 \pm 3 \text{ s}^{-1}$ and $k_{23} + k_{32} = 105 \pm 9 \,\text{s}^{-1}$, with $K_d = 930 \pm 80 \,\mu\text{M}$ and $K_{d,app}$ = 310 \pm 30 μ M. Interpretation according to IF under the rapid equilibrium approximation points to differences between the two ligands, with FPR binding more specifically because of a lower $K_{d,app}$ that would be measured experimentally at equilibrium by fluorescence titrations or calorimetry. Importantly, the 15-fold difference in $K_{d,app}$ caused by replacement of Arg with the less specific Lys at the P1 position⁶¹ of the ligand is due mainly to k_{32} , which measures the rate of conversion of E'X to EX and has nothing to do with the intrinsic binding affinity K_d . Hence, both ligands drive the $EX \rightarrow E'X$ transition with comparable rates, but FPR optimizes binding by better maintaining the complex in the E'X conformation. After the initial complex is formed, FPR induces a tighter fit toward a more stable final complex than the cognate ligand FPK.

Using IF for the analysis of FPR and FPK binding to the active site of the thrombin mutant W215A produces a compelling interpretation of the underlying mechanism and points to a strategy to optimize the affinity further. The pharmacology literature is full of similar interpretations that have informed the design of better lead compounds.^{2,28,42,51} However, when the binding interaction of FPR and FPK with the thrombin mutant W215A is studied at a higher temperature (25 °C), a different scenario emerges [Fig. 5(B)]. FPR binds according to IF as seen at 10 °C [Fig. 5(A)], with values of $k_{32} = 38 \pm 3 \text{ s}^{-1}$,



FIG. 5. Rates of relaxation for FPR (filled circles) or FPK (open circles) binding to the thrombin mutant W215A⁵⁹ under experimental conditions of: 50 mM Tris, 200 mM ChCl, 0.1% PEG8000, pH 8 at (A) 10 °C or (B) 25 °C. The data at 10 °C are consistent with IF under the rapid equilibrium approximation [Eq. (13a)] for both ligands. On the other hand, the data at 25 °C reveal a paradox where the thrombin mutant W215A binds FPR according to IF [Eq. (13a)] and FPK according to CS [Eq. (13b)] under the same experimental conditions. Continuous lines were drawn according to Eq. (14a) for IF and Eq. (14b) for CS. Adapted with permission from Ref. 59.

 $k_{23} + k_{32} = 180 \pm 10 \,\mathrm{s}^{-1}$, $K_d = 230 \pm 20 \,\mu\mathrm{M}$ and $K_{d,app} = 49 \pm 5 \,\mu\mathrm{M}$. The higher values of the rate constants k_{23} and k_{32} are expected at higher temperature, and so are the lower affinities K_d and $K_{d,app}$ due to a binding interaction that is enthalpically driven. On the other hand, binding of FPK is no longer consistent with IF but with CS, and the associated relaxation decreases from a value of $k_{12} + k_{21}$ $= 330 \pm 30 \,\mathrm{s}^{-1}$ to $k_{12} = 150 \pm 10 \,\mathrm{s}^{-1}$, with $K_d = 23 \pm 2 \,\mu\mathrm{M}$ and $K_{d,app} = 51 \pm 5 \,\mu$ M. How can the same protein behave according to two irreducible mechanisms like IF and CS under identical solution conditions? How can E^* and E preexist in equilibrium for FPK but not FPR? The value of the saturable relaxation at x = 0 gives the rate constant k_{32} for IF and the sum $k_{12} + k_{21}$ for CS. The former measures the rate for the $E'X \rightarrow EX$ transition, i.e., a property of the complex that may change with different ligands, as seen in Fig. 5(A). The latter measures the rate for the $E^* \rightleftharpoons E$ transitions to reach equilibrium, i.e., a property of the free macromolecule that must be independent of the ligand used. The data in Fig. 5(B) are inconsistent with IF because FPK clearly obeys CS, but they are also inconsistent with CS because FPR does not. A scenario similar to that shown in Figs. 5(A) and 5(B) for FPR and FPK binding to the W215A mutant of thrombin has been observed in P-type ATPases when using metal-fluoride complexes to induce E2P-like states with the aim of studying the events that occur during E2P hydrolysis.⁶² Although binding of BeF_x produces an increase in fluorescence analogous to Pi, it causes an increase in the value of $\alpha(x)$ with x according to IF, whereas Pi induces a decrease according to CS. Again, how can the P-type ATPase behave according to IF and CS under identical solution conditions? The paradoxical divergence in the kinetic behavior of a macromolecule toward two distinct ligands under identical solution conditions is resolved once we abandon the rapid equilibrium approximation.

V. IF IN THE GENERAL CASE

How different is the behavior of the system in the general case, i.e., without the rapid equilibrium approximation? This question was first addressed by simulations using the complex kinetics of MANT-ADP binding to $DnaC^{63}$ and then in general mathematical terms for IF [Eq. (11)] and CS [Eq. (12)].⁶⁴ Consider the properties of IF under the general assumptions used for the lock and key mechanism [Eq. (9)] and with the ligand in excess over the macromolecule. Because the system is closed, only two of the three macromolecular species in Eq. (11) are independent and the time evolution of the system is

$$\begin{pmatrix} dE/dt \\ dEX/dt \\ dE'X/dt \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -k_{on}x & k_{off} & 0 \\ k_{on}x & -k_{off} - k_{23} & k_{32} \\ 0 & k_{23} & -k_{32} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} E \\ EX \\ E'X \end{pmatrix}$$
(17)

or

$$E(t) = c_0 A_{10} + c_1 A_{11} e^{-\alpha_1(x)t} + c_2 A_{12} e^{-\alpha_2(x)t}$$

= $E(\infty) + c_1 A_{11} e^{-\alpha_1(x)t} + c_2 A_{12} e^{-\alpha_2(x)t}$ (18a)
 $EX(t) = c_0 A_{20} + c_1 A_{21} e^{-\alpha_1(x)t} + c_2 A_{22} e^{-\alpha_2(x)t}$

$$= EX(\infty) + c_1 A_{21} e^{-\alpha_1(x)t} + c_2 A_{22} e^{-\alpha_2(x)t}$$
(18b)
$$E'X(t) = c_0 A_{30} + c_1 A_{31} e^{-\alpha_1(x)t} + c_2 A_{32} e^{-\alpha_2(x)t}$$

$$= E'X(\infty) + c_1 A_{31} e^{-\alpha_1(x)t} + c_2 A_{32} e^{-\alpha_2(x)t}.$$
 (18c)

Here the *A*'s are elements of the eigenvectors of the matrix in Eq. (17); the *c*'s are arbitrary constants that satisfy the initial conditions E(0),

EX(0), and E'X(0); and $E(\infty)$, $EX(\infty)$, and $E'X(\infty)$ are the values of E(t), EX(t), and E'X(t) at $t = \infty$. The α 's are the rates of approach to equilibrium defined as the two non-zero eigenvalues, with changed sign, $\alpha_1(x)$ and $\alpha_2(x)$ of the matrix in Eq. (17), i.e.,

$$\alpha_{1}(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ k_{on}x + k_{off} + k_{23} + k_{32} + \sqrt{\left(k_{on}x + k_{off} - k_{23} - k_{32}\right)^{2} + 4k_{off}k_{23}} \right\}$$
(19a)

$$\alpha_2(x) = \frac{1}{2} \Big\{ k_{on}x + k_{off} + k_{23} + k_{32} \\ -\sqrt{\big(k_{on}x + k_{off} - k_{23} - k_{32}\big)^2 + 4k_{off}k_{23}} \Big\}.$$
(19b)

The sums $k_{on}x + k_{off}$ and $k_{23} + k_{32}$ measure the rates at which the exchanges $E + X \rightleftharpoons EX$ and $EX \rightleftharpoons E'X$ reach equilibrium. They make a symmetric contribution to Eqs. 19(a) and 19(b), i.e., they can be swapped without affecting the behavior of the system. The term $k_{off}k_{23}$ breaks the symmetry and depends on the two rate constants that deplete the *EX* intermediate in Eq. (11). The functional behavior of the IF mechanism in the general case depends not on the relative rates at which binding $E + X \rightleftharpoons EX$ and conformational transitions $EX \rightleftharpoons E'X$ reach equilibrium. Rather, it depends on how fast the *EX* intermediate disappears as a result of ligand dissociation (k_{off}) and conversion to the more stable complex (k_{23}). The limiting values of the relaxations in Eqs. (19a) and (19b) are easily calculated as

$$\alpha_1(0) = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ k_{off} + k_{23} + k_{32} + \sqrt{\left(k_{off} - k_{23} - k_{32}\right)^2 + 4k_{off}k_{23}} \right\}$$
(20a)

$$\alpha_1(\infty) \approx k_{on} x \tag{20b}$$

$$\alpha_2(0) = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ k_{off} + k_{23} + k_{32} - \sqrt{\left(k_{off} - k_{23} - k_{32}\right)^2 + 4k_{off}k_{23}} \right\}$$
(20c)

$$\alpha_2(\infty) = k_{23} + k_{32}.$$
 (20d)

The fast relaxation, $\alpha_1(x)$, always increases with x and eventually grows linearly as $x \to \infty$. In this limit [Eq. (20b)], the relaxation becomes indistinguishable from that describing the simple lock-andkey mechanism because it is dominated by the binding interaction. The slow relaxation, $\alpha_2(x)$, also increases with x, but saturates at a value $\alpha_2(\infty) = k_{23} + k_{32}$ that reflects the rate at which the $EX \rightleftharpoons E'X$ exchange reaches equilibrium [Eq. (20d)]. This limiting value is identical to that seen in the case of IF under the rapid equilibrium approximation [Eq. (14a)]. Under saturating conditions of ligand, the system partitions between its main processes $E + X \rightarrow EX$, reflecting formation of the complex, and $EX \rightleftharpoons E'X$, reflecting the conformational transition once the complex is formed. This asymptotic value depends on properties of the complex and is expected to be different for different ligands. In the absence of ligand, the two transitions make overlapping contributions to the kinetics that depend on all rate constants in the kinetic scheme [Eqs. (20a) and (20c)], except k_{on} . Again, these values are expected to be influenced by the particular ligand under consideration. We also note that the difference between the lower limit of the fast relaxation and the upper limit of the slow relaxation defines an important quantity ε such that

$$\alpha_1(0) - \alpha_2(\infty) = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ k_{off} - k_{23} - k_{32} + \sqrt{\left(k_{off} - k_{23} - k_{32}\right)^2 + 4k_{off}k_{23}} \right\} = \varepsilon \quad (21a)$$

$$\alpha_2(0) + \varepsilon = k_{off}.$$
 (21b)

When the mechanism of binding obeys IF, the value of ε can be derived directly by inspection of the plot of the two relaxations. Once the value of ε is known, the rate constant k_{off} is also derived by inspection as the sum of the lower limit of the slow relaxation and ε [Eq. (21b)]. The value of ε ranges from 0 to k_{off} , and its importance will become apparent in Sec. VII.

Both relaxations in the IF mechanism feature a monotonic increase with the ligand concentration *x*, as shown by the derivative

$$\frac{d\alpha_{1,2}(x)}{dx} = \frac{k_{on}}{2} \left(1 \pm \frac{k_{on}x + k_{off} - k_{23} - k_{32}}{\sqrt{\left(k_{on}x + k_{off} - k_{23} - k_{32}\right)^2 + 4k_{off}k_{23}}} \right) > 0.$$
(22)

Therefore, IF cannot account for the kinetic profile shown in Fig. 4(A), even in the general case. It is instructive to show how Eqs. (19a) and (19b) change in the rapid equilibrium approximation, which is obtained by assuming that $k_{on}x + k_{off} \gg k_{23} + k_{32}$ for all values of *x*. Simple algebra yields the expressions

$$\alpha_1(x) = k_{on}x + k_{off} \tag{23a}$$

$$\alpha_{2}(x) = \lim_{k_{on}x+k_{off}\to\infty} \frac{\left(k_{on}x+k_{off}+k_{23}+k_{32}\right)^{2} - \left(k_{on}x+k_{off}-k_{23}-k_{32}\right)^{2} - 4k_{off}k_{23}}{k_{on}x+k_{off}+k_{23}+k_{32}+\sqrt{\left(k_{on}x+k_{off}-k_{23}-k_{32}\right)^{2} + 4k_{off}k_{23}}} = k_{23}\frac{x}{K_{d}+x} + k_{32} = k_{23}f + k_{32}.$$
 (23b)

Separation of the time scales for binding $(k_{on}x + k_{off})$ and conformational change $(k_{23} + k_{32})$ produces the expected expressions: the fast relaxation is identical to the lock-and-key model [Eq. (10)], and the slow relaxation is identical to Eq (14a). The lower limit of the fast relaxation separates widely from the asymptotic upper limit of the slow relaxation and the value of ε increases. Hence, a necessary condition for invoking the rapid equilibrium approximation is that the two relaxations be widely separated, as seen for the case of glucose binding to glucokinase, shown in Fig. 3(A). However, the condition is not sufficient, as we will see in Secs. VI and VII. In the general case, Eq. (11) depends on four independent parameters that can be resolved only when both $\alpha_1(x)$ and $\alpha_2(x)$ are measured experimentally. If only the slow relaxation is accessible to experimental measurements as a hyperbolic increase as a function of x, then none of the four independent values of the IF mechanism can be resolved unequivocally from Eqs. (20c) and (20d). Parameters estimated through the simplified Eq. (23b) under the rapid equilibrium approximation may not give a correct interpretation of the underlying kinetic mechanism.

VI. CS IN THE GENERAL CASE

The properties of the mechanism of CS [Eq. (12)] in the general case have been discussed only recently,⁶⁴ notwithstanding their mathematical simplicity. Under the assumption that the system is closed and the ligand is in large excess over the macromolecule, only two of the three macromolecular species in Eq. (12) are independent, and the time evolution of the system is

$$\begin{pmatrix} dE^*/dt \\ dE/dt \\ dEX/dt \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -k_{12} & k_{21} & 0 \\ k_{12} & -k_{on}x - k_{21} & k_{off} \\ 0 & k_{on}x & -k_{off} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} E^* \\ E \\ EX \end{pmatrix}$$
(24)

$$E^{*}(t) = c_{0}A_{10} + c_{1}A_{11}e^{-\alpha_{1}(x)t} + c_{2}A_{12}e^{-\alpha_{2}(x)t}$$

= $E^{*}(\infty) + c_{1}A_{11}e^{-\alpha_{1}(x)t} + c_{2}A_{12}e^{-\alpha_{2}(x)t}$ (25a)
 $E(t) = c_{0}A_{20} + c_{1}A_{21}e^{-\alpha_{1}(x)t} + c_{2}A_{22}e^{-\alpha_{2}(x)t}$

$$= E(\infty) + c_1 A_{21} e^{-\alpha_1(x)t} + c_2 A_{22} e^{-\alpha_2(x)t}$$
(25b)

$$EX(t) = c_0 A_{30} + c_1 A_{31} e^{-\alpha_1(x)t} + c_2 A_{32} e^{-\alpha_2(x)t}$$

= $EX(\infty) + c_1 A_{31} e^{-\alpha_1(x)t} + c_2 A_{32} e^{-\alpha_2(x)t}.$ (25c)

The parameters in Eqs. (25a)-(25c) are analogous to those for IF in Eqs. (18a)-(18c), and the relevant expressions for the relaxations α 's are

$$\alpha_{1}(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ k_{on}x + k_{off} + k_{12} + k_{21} + \sqrt{\left(k_{on}x + k_{off} - k_{12} - k_{21}\right)^{2} + 4k_{21}k_{on}x} \right\}$$
(26a)

$$\alpha_{2}(x) = \frac{1}{2} \Big\{ k_{on}x + k_{off} + k_{12} + k_{21} \\ - \sqrt{\left(k_{on}x + k_{off} - k_{12} - k_{21}\right)^{2} + 4k_{21}k_{on}x} \Big\}.$$
 (26b)

The similarity of Eqs. (26a) and (26b) to Eqs. (19a) and (19b) is evident. There is a symmetric contribution from the sums of rate constants defining the relaxation to equilibrium of the two separate processes $E^* \stackrel{\sim}{\leftarrow} E$, reflecting the conformational transition, and $E + X \stackrel{\sim}{\leftarrow} EX$, reflecting binding, whereas the term $k_{21}k_{on}x$ makes an asymmetric contribution that depends on rate constants that deplete the intermediate species *E* in the reaction scheme [Eq. (12)]. Notably, this term is a constant for IF ($k_{off}k_{23}$), but a function of the ligand concentration *x* for CS ($k_{21}k_{on}x$), which presages important differences in the kinetic properties of CS compared to IF. The expectation that CS may be mathematically and functionally more versatile than IF is at

or

odds with the documented paucity of systems that behave according to CS based on the rapid equilibrium approximation.^{28,33} Yet, the unique features of CS are immediately evident once we consider the limiting values of the two relaxations, i.e.,

$$\alpha_1(0) = larger of k_{off} or k_{12} + k_{21}$$
(27a)

$$\alpha_1(\infty) \approx k_{on} x \tag{27b}$$

$$\alpha_2(0) = smaller \ of \ k_{off} \ or \ k_{12} + k_{21}$$
 (27c)

$$\alpha_2(\infty) = k_{12}.\tag{27d}$$

The upper limit of the fast relaxation, $\alpha_1(\infty)$, grows linearly as $x \to \infty$, as seen for IF [Eq. (20b)]. The analogous limit for the slow relaxation, $\alpha_2(\infty)$, saturates at a value equal to k_{12} , defining the rate constant for the $E^* \rightarrow E$ transition, which is a property of the free macromolecule. This is somewhat counterintuitive, because the behavior of the system under saturating concentrations of ligand is expected to depend on properties of the bound forms of the macromolecule. Indeed, the value of $\alpha_2(\infty)$ for IF reflects properties of the complex [Eq. (20d)]. Furthermore, the value of $\alpha_2(\infty)$ for CS unequivocally defines one of the rate constants in the kinetic mechanism [Eq. (12)], which can be derived from inspection of the relaxation plot, without the need for data analysis. The lower limits of the two relaxations, $\alpha_1(0)$ and $\alpha_2(0)$, can only be assigned unequivocally once the relative values of k_{off} and $k_{12} + k_{21}$ are known. The larger value is assigned to the fast relaxation, and the smaller one to the slow relaxation. This is a consequence of the term $k_{21}k_{on}x$ in Eqs. (26a) and (26b), no longer contributing to the two relaxations when $x \rightarrow 0$. When $k_{off} > k_{12} + k_{21}$, the fast relaxation has a lower limit $\alpha_1(0)$ that depends entirely on properties of the complex, and the slow relaxation has both limits, $\alpha_2(0)$ and $\alpha_2(\infty)$, which depend entirely on properties of the free macromolecule. When $k_{off} < k_{12} + k_{21}$, the lower limit of the fast relaxation no longer reflects properties of the complex but rather of the free macromolecule, whereas the value of $\alpha_2(0)$ reflects properties of the complex and no longer of the free macromolecule. In this case, the behavior of the slow relaxation reflects properties of the complex when $x \to 0$ and the macromolecule is mostly in the free form, but it reflects properties of the free macromolecule when $x \to \infty$ and the macromolecule is mostly in the bound form. The peculiar contribution of the term $k_{21}k_{on}x$ in Eqs. (26a) and (26b) becomes fully apparent when the dependence of each relaxation is studied as a function of the ligand concentration [Eqs. (27a)-(27d)].



The fast relaxation of CS is expected to increase as a function of x from the values of the limits in Eqs. (27a) and (27b). Indeed, the derivative

$$\frac{d\alpha_{1}(x)}{dx} = \frac{k_{on}}{2} \left(1 + \frac{k_{on}x + k_{off} - k_{12} + k_{21}}{\sqrt{\left(k_{on}x + k_{off} - k_{12} - k_{21}\right)^{2} + 4k_{21}k_{on}x}} \right) > 0.$$
(28a)

A quite different scenario is observed for the slow relaxation, whose behavior depends on the sign of the expression $k_{off} - k_{12}$. The derivative

$$\frac{d\alpha_2(x)}{dx} = \frac{k_{on}}{2} \left(1 - \frac{k_{on}x + k_{off} - k_{12} + k_{21}}{\sqrt{\left(k_{on}x + k_{off} - k_{12} - k_{21}\right)^2 + 4k_{21}k_{on}x}} \right) < 0$$

for $k_{off} > k_{12}$ (28b)

$$\frac{d\alpha_2(x)}{dx} = \frac{k_{on}}{2} \left(1 - \frac{k_{on}x + k_{off} - k_{12} + k_{21}}{\sqrt{\left(k_{on}x + k_{off} - k_{12} - k_{21}\right)^2 + 4k_{21}k_{on}x}} \right) > 0$$

for $k_{off} < k_{12}$ (28c)

$$\frac{d\alpha_2(x)}{dx} = \frac{k_{on}}{2} \left(1 - \frac{k_{on}x + k_{off} - k_{12} + k_{21}}{\sqrt{\left(k_{on}x + k_{off} - k_{12} - k_{21}\right)^2 + 4k_{21}k_{on}x}} \right) = 0$$

for $k_{off} = k_{12}$. (28d)

We have already established [Eq. (27c)] that the smaller value between k_{off} and $k_{12} + k_{21}$ is assigned to $\alpha_2(0)$, and this introduces variability in the relative values of $\alpha_2(0)$ and $\alpha_2(\infty)$. The relaxation $\alpha_2(x)$ always decreases with x when $\alpha_2(0) = k_{12} + k_{21}$, but it may also decrease when $k_{off} > k_{12}$. In addition, the relaxation increases with x whenever $k_{off} < k_{12}$ and is independent of x in the special case when $k_{off} = k_{12}$. The different behaviors of the slow relaxation of CS in the general case are illustrated in Fig. 6, where the value of k_{12} is changed while keeping k_{off} constant [Fig. 6(A)], or vice versa [Fig. 6(B)]. The examples in Fig. 6(B) offer a possible solution to the paradox presented in Fig. 5. The data at $10 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ [Fig. 5(A)] show the two ligands FPR and FPK obeying a single relaxation that increases hyperbolically with x and converging toward a similar upper asymptote. This kinetic profile would be interpreted with IF under the rapid equilibrium approximation, but is also consistent with CS in the general case. The value of $\alpha_2(\infty) = k_{12}$ [Eq. (27d)] for CS reflects a property of the free macromolecule and should

FIG. 6. Kinetic behavior of the slow relaxation of CS in the general case [Eq. (26b)] showing the effect of changing k_{12} while keeping k_{off} (A) constant, or (B) vice versa. The simulations in panel (A) provide an explanation for the data on FPR binding to prothrombin and its derivatives [Fig 7(A)]. The simulations in panel (B) resolve the paradox discussed in Sec. IV about the binding of FPR and FPK to the thrombin mutant W215A (Fig 5).

be independent of the ligand used, as indeed observed for FPR and FPK [Fig. 5(A)], and for BeF_x and Pi binding to the P-type ATPase.⁶² The difference between the ligands in the lower asymptote is explained by the difference in the value of $k_{off} < k_{12}$, i.e., the two ligands bind to the thrombin mutant W215A with the same mechanism of CS but with different values of k_{off} . The conclusion is supported by the data collected at 25 °C [Fig. 5(B)] that again converge toward the same value of $\alpha_2(\infty) = k_{12}$, but differ sharply in the value of k_{off} . As this value grows above the value of k_{12} that is independent of the ligand, the condition $k_{off} > k_{12}$ takes hold and inverts the dependence of $\alpha_2(x)$ on x from a hyperbolic *increase* for FPR to a hyperbolic *decrease* for FPK. The same conclusion applies to the case of BeFx and Pi binding to the P-type ATPase: both ligands obey CS but differ in the value of k_{off} that is significantly higher in the case of Pi.⁶² The data in Fig. 5 and the simulations in Fig. 6 demonstrate the importance of interrogating the kinetic behavior of the system with different ligands and under different experimental conditions. Data limited to FPR, even at different temperatures, would have supported IF under the rapid equilibrium approximation as a mechanism of binding to the thrombin mutant W215A. The same conclusion would have been drawn from analysis of FPK binding at 10 °C or analysis of BF_x binding to the P-type ATPase.⁶

The relevance of CS in the general case is further documented by the simulations shown in Fig. 6(A) that bear direct relevance to ligand binding to the active site of the clotting factor prothrombin⁶⁵ and its two smaller derivatives, prethrombin-166 and prethrombin-2.6 Prothrombin is composed of 579 residues and has a modular assembly [Fig. 7(B)] that comprises the Gla-domain, two kringles, and the protease domain housing the active site.⁶⁸ Binding of the ligand FPR to prothrombin produces a single relaxation, decreasing hyperbolically with the ligand concentration that proves unequivocally the validity of CS as a mechanism of binding [Eq. (28a)] and rules out IF [Fig. 7(A)]. The limiting values in the plot are $\alpha_2(0) = 45 \pm 5 \, \text{s}^{-1}$, defining the smaller between k_{off} or the sum $k_{12} + k_{21}$, and $\alpha_2(\infty) = 6.9 \pm 0.3 \text{ s}^{-1}$ defining the value of k_{12} . Cleavage at residue R155 between the two kringles of prothrombin removes the Gla domain and kringle-1 and generates prethrombin-1 [Fig. 7(B)]. FPR binding to prethrombin-1 features a single relaxation independent of ligand concentration [Fig. 7(A)] that again proves unequivocally the validity of CS [Eq. (28c)] and leads to the conclusion that $\alpha_2(0) = \alpha_2(\infty)$, or else k_{off} $= k_{12} = 42 \pm 2 \,\mathrm{s}^{-1}$. The value compares well to $\alpha_2(0) = 45 \pm 5 \,\mathrm{s}^{-1}$ measured for prothrombin and suggests that this limit in the slow relaxation of prothrombin likely measures k_{off} and that this rate constant does not change significantly upon removal of the Gla domain and kringle-1. What changes in the transition from prothrombin to prethrombin-1 is the value of k_{12} , measuring the rate of opening of the active site in the $E^* \rightarrow E$ transition that increases significantly in prethrombin-1. Hence, removal of the Gla domain and kringle-1 affects the intrinsic $E^* \rightleftharpoons E$ equilibrium, controlling ligand binding to the active site in the protease domain located > 50 A away. Removal of kringle-2 from prethrombin-1 further reduces the size of the protein and generates prethrombin-2 [Fig. 7(B)]. In this case, FPR binding produces a single relaxation that increases hyperbolically with the ligand concentration [Fig. 7(A)]. It is possible that the drastic structural perturbation produced by transitioning from prothrombin to prethrombin-2 causes the molecular mechanism of recognition of FPR to change from CS to IF. However, it is reasonable to assume that the mechanism of FPR binding does not change and that the data for prethrombin-2 can also be interpreted with CS to give $\alpha_2(0) = k_{off} = 27 \pm 2 \,\mathrm{s}^{-1}$ and $\alpha_2(\infty) = k_{12} = 170 \pm 10 \,\mathrm{s}^{-1}$. The value of k_{off} is similar to that measured for prothrombin and prethrombin-1 and the value of k_{12} , measuring the rate of opening of the active site in the $E^* \rightarrow E$ increases even further compared to prethrombin-1. Hence, FPR binding to prothrombin and its smaller derivatives can be explained in terms of CS, with a value of k_{off} that remains fairly constant and a value of k_{12} that becomes progressively faster as the Gla domain and kringles are removed from the structure. This interpretation is consistent with the conformational plasticity of prothrombin documented by X-ray structural biology^{69,70} as the driving force producing long-range perturbation of the active site from the auxiliary Gla domain and kringles.

The versatility of CS and Eq. (26b) is lost under the rapid equilibrium approximation, which is obtained under the assumption $k_{on}x + k_{off} \gg k_{12} + k_{21}$. Simple algebra yields the expressions

$$\alpha_1(x) = k_{on}x + k_{off} \tag{29a}$$

$$\alpha_{2}(x) = \lim_{k_{on}x+k_{off}\to\infty} \frac{\left(k_{on}x+k_{off}+k_{12}+k_{21}\right)^{2} - \left(k_{on}x+k_{off}-k_{12}-k_{21}\right)^{2} - 4k_{21}k_{on}x}{k_{on}x+k_{off}+k_{12}+k_{21}+\sqrt{\left(k_{on}x+k_{off}-k_{23}-k_{32}\right)^{2} + 4k_{off}k_{23}}} = k_{12} + k_{21}\frac{K_{d}}{K_{d}+x} = k_{12} + k_{21}(1-f).$$
(29b)

The fast relaxation becomes the familiar expression for the lock-andkey model [Eq. (10)] and the slow relaxation becomes identical to Eq. (14b), which always decreases as a function of *x*. The important conclusion from this analysis is that a simple distinction between IF and CS is only possible under the rapid equilibrium approximation. In the general case, CS produces kinetics that are incompatible with IF because $\alpha_2(\infty) < \alpha_2(0)$, thereby explaining experimental data that can only be interpreted with CS. In addition, CS is consistent with experimental data where $\alpha_2(\infty) > \alpha_2(0)$ that might be considered unequivocal proof of IF. Finally, CS also accounts for the case of a relaxation that is independent of the ligand concentration, i.e., $\alpha_2(x) = \alpha_2(\infty) = \alpha_2(0)$, that finds no explanation in terms of either IF or CS under the rapid equilibrium approximation.⁷¹ The properties of CS in the general case [Eqs. (26a) and (26b)] have significant

scitation.org/journal/bpr



FIG. 7. (A) Rapid kinetics of FPR binding to prothrombin (closed circles), prethrombin-1 (mixed circles), and prethrombin-2 (open circles)⁶⁵ showing how the slow relaxation for the three proteins is consistent with CS in the general case [Eq. (12)] and the simulations in Fig. 6(A). The kinetic profiles of prothrombin, prethrombin-1, and prethrombin-2 differ markedly, especially in the value of k_{12} . Experimental conditions are: 400 mM ChCl, 50 mM Tris, 0.1% PEG8000, pH 8.0, at 15 °C. (B) Crystal structure of prothrombin⁷⁰ that reveals the multi domain architecture of the protein composed of the Gla domain (GD, blue), kringle-1 (K1, red), kringle-2 (K2, green), and protease domain (PD, gold) containing the binding site for the ligand FPR (arrow). Removal of the Gla domain and kringle-1 generates the intermediate prethrombin-1, ⁶⁶ and further deletion of kringle-2 frees the protease domain as prethrombin-2.

practical implications for the analysis of experimental data. The fast relaxation $\alpha_1(x)$ has a behavior compatible with both IF and CS, and eventually increases linearly with x because it monitors the effect of ligand binding. The slow relaxation, on the other hand, saturates at high x to values that convey information on the conformational properties of the complex for IF or the free species for CS. When the slow relaxation decreases hyperbolically with x, the system unequivocally obeys CS, and IF is necessarily ruled out. The same conclusion applies to the case of a slow relaxation being independent of x. On the other hand, when the slow relaxation increases hyperbolically with x, the system may obey IF or CS, and neither mechanism is necessarily ruled out. CS is always sufficient as an explanation for the mechanism of ligand binding and is also necessary when a saturable relaxation decreases hyperbolically with x. In contrast, IF is never necessary as an explanation for the mechanism of ligand binding and is only sufficient when a saturable relaxation increases hyperbolically with x.

The greater versatility of CS compared to IF has direct relevance to enzyme kinetics. Formation of a catalytically active complex according to CS may show a change in the rate-limiting step from trapping the *E* intermediate at low *x* to the rate k_{12} for the $E^* \rightarrow E$ transition at high *x*. The richer functional repertoire of CS and its potential overlap with IF was first uncovered using simulations of a more complex kinetic scheme involving both IF and CS.⁶³ Surprisingly, however, the full mathematical complexity of the simple schemes for IF [Eq. (11)] and CS [Eq. (12)] reported above has been documented only recently.^{64,72}

VII. IF AS A MATHEMATICAL SPECIAL CASE OF CS

In its general form, CS is not only more versatile than IF but it includes IF as a mathematical special case. The entire repertoire of kinetic properties of IF can be recapitulated by CS, but the reverse is not true. Any experimental data set consistent with IF can be interpreted with identical mathematical accuracy with CS. This result is unexpected given that IF and CS have long been assumed to be mutually exclusive mechanisms and mathematically irreducible.^{4,5,22,23,28,33} The result is also counterintuitive because IF and CS are two-step reactions where binding and conformational changes are linked in

sequence, but in reverse order. Why should binding preceded by a conformational change be functionally more versatile than the reverse sequence of events? And why should it include the reverse order as a special case? Functional complexity seems to depend on where conformational transitions take place in the kinetic mechanism, which generates hierarchy within the same topology of the reaction scheme. The relaxations for the IF and CS in Eqs. (19a) and (19b) and Eqs. (26a) and (26b) can be rewritten as

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{1,2}^{IF}(x) &= \frac{1}{2} \left\{ k_{23} + k_{32} + k_{on}^{IF} x \right. \\ &+ k_{off}^{IF} \pm \sqrt{ \left(k_{on}^{IF} x + k_{off}^{IF} - k_{23} - k_{32} \right)^2 + 4k_{23} k_{off}^{IF}} \right\} (30a) \end{aligned}$$

$$\alpha_{1,2}^{\text{CS}}(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ k_{12} + k_{21} + k_{on}^{\text{CS}} x + k_{off}^{\text{CS}} + k_{off}^{\text{CS}} + k_{off}^{\text{CS}} - k_{12} - k_{21} \right)^2 + 4k_{21} k_{on}^{\text{CS}} x$$
(30b)

to better identify rate constants that apply to each mechanism. Because IF only produces relaxations that increase monotonically with *x* [Eq. (22)], we will prove that this mechanism is a special case of CS under the condition $k_{off}^{CS} < k_{12}$ that also produces relaxations that increase monotonically with *x* [Eqs. (26b) and (28c)]. Simple algebra shows that Eq. (30a) of IF is mathematically identical to Eq. (30b) of CS for any value of *x* under the following transformations:⁵⁹

$$k_{on}^{CS} = k_{on}^{IF} \tag{31a}$$

$$k_{12} = k_{23} + k_{32} \tag{31b}$$

$$k_{21} = \varepsilon \tag{31c}$$

$$k_{off}^{CS} = k_{off}^{IF} - \varepsilon, \qquad (31d)$$

where ε was defined in Eq. (21a). The first condition [Eq. (31a)] is a consequence of the fast relaxation increasing linearly as $k_{on}x$ for $x \to \infty$ in Eqs. (20b) and (27b). The second condition [Eq. (31b)] equates the limiting values of the slow relaxation for $x \to \infty$ in Eqs. (20d) and (27d). The third condition [Eq. (31c)] equates the values of the fast relaxation for $x \to 0$ in Eqs. (20a) and (27a), i.e.,

$$k_{12} + k_{21} = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ k_{off} + k_{23} + k_{32} + \sqrt{\left(k_{off} - k_{23} - k_{32}\right)^2 + 4k_{off}k_{23}} \right\}, \quad (32)$$

and uses the definition of ε in Eq. (21a). Alternatively, Eq. (31c) equates the spacing between the lower limit of the fast relaxation and the upper limit of the slow relaxation which is given by ε in IF and by the difference $k_{12} + k_{21} - k_{12} = k_{21}$ in CS. The fourth condition [Eq. (31d)] equates Eqs. (20c) and (27c), using again the definition of ε in Eq. (21a). The four conditions in Eqs. (31a)–(31d) make the two expressions in Eqs. (30a) and (30b) mathematically identical for all values of the independent variable *x*. Therefore, experimental data consistent with IF [Eq. (30a)] can be fit with identical mathematical accuracy with CS [Eq. (30b)] using the following equivalence:

$$E \underset{k_{off}}{\overset{k_{on}x}{\longleftrightarrow}} EX \underset{k_{32}}{\overset{k_{23}}{\longleftrightarrow}} E'X = E^* \underset{\varepsilon}{\overset{k_{23}+k_{32}}{\longleftrightarrow}} E \underset{k_{off}-\varepsilon}{\overset{k_{on}x}{\longleftrightarrow}} EX.$$
(33)

To illustrate the importance of Eq. (33), we revisit the binding of glucose to glucokinase dealt with in Fig. 3(A). The two relaxations determined experimentally⁵⁴ were originally interpreted in terms of IF under the rapid equilibrium approximation. Using IF in the general case offers a global fit of the data with best-fit parameter values: $k_{on} = 540 \pm 20 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$, $k_{off} = 7.5 \pm 0.2 \text{ s}^{-1}$, $k_{23} = 0.44 \pm 0.02 \text{ s}^{-1}$, $k_{32} = 0.36 \pm 0.01 \text{ s}^{-1}$. The mathematically equivalent interpretation in terms of CS generates best-fit parameter values: $k_{on} = 540 \pm 20 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$, $k_{off} = 0.34 \pm 0.01 \text{ s}^{-1}$, $k_{12} = 0.80 \pm 0.02 \text{ s}^{-1}$, $k_{21} = 7.2 \pm 0.2 \text{ s}^{-1}$. Application of Eq. (33) yields the equivalence

$$E \overset{540 M^{-1} s^{-1} x}{\underset{7.5 s^{-1}}{\rightleftharpoons}} EX \overset{0.44 s^{-1}}{\underset{0.36 s^{-1}}{\rightleftharpoons}} E'X = E^* \overset{0.80 s^{-1}}{\underset{7.2 s^{-1}}{\rightleftharpoons}} E \overset{540 M^{-1} s^{-1} x}{\underset{0.34 s^{-1}}{\rightleftharpoons}} EX.$$
(34)

Binding of glucose to glucokinase can be interpreted with IF as a relatively low affinity intrinsic binding step ($K_d = 14 \text{ mM}$) followed by a slight twofold increase in affinity due to a conformational transition of the complex equilibrating at a rate $k_{23} + k_{32} = 0.80 \text{ s}^{-1}$. Combination of binding and conformational transitions results in a value of $K_{d,app} = 6.3 \text{ mM}$ from Eq. (15), which would be obtained from equilibrium measurements. The value slightly overestimates the intrinsic binding affinity of glucose to glucokinase. Alternatively, the reaction of glucose with glucokinase can be interpreted with CS as a relatively high affinity intrinsic binding step ($K_d = 0.63$ mM) that involves only a small fraction (10%) of glucokinase molecules that equilibrate at a rate $k_{12} + k_{21} = 8.0 \text{ s}^{-1}$. Application of Eq. (15) yields $K_{d,app} = 6.3 \text{ mM}$, which is identical to the value derived from IF, as expected, but that in this case greatly underestimates the intrinsic binding affinity of glucose for glucokinase. The two interpretations of glucose binding to glucokinase predict the same value of the apparent binding constant, which confirms that equilibrium measurements would be unable to assign a mechanism of binding. The two mechanisms differ significantly in predicting the intrinsic binding affinity of glucose for glucokinase, which is > 20-fold higher in the case of CS. The difference may have important implications for drug design. What value should be used to compare

predictions of computational methods and binding constants measured experimentally at equilibrium, such as $K_{d,app}$? The same interaction produces three distinct binding constants: CS predicts a value of 0.63 mM for the binding of glucose to the E form of glucokinase, representing 10% of the macromolecules in solution; a value of 6.3 mM, 10-fold higher than the intrinsic binding constant predicted by CS, measures the apparent equilibrium binding constant of glucose to glucokinase that would be measured by equilibrium titrations; finally, IF predicts an even larger value of 14 mM for the intrinsic binding constant of glucose to glucokinase before the complex rearranges into a more stable product. The value of 6.3 mM measured at equilibrium would be close to the intrinsic binding constant predicted by IF, but 10-fold higher than that predicted by CS. Therefore, a computational model of the glucoseglucokinase interaction based on the value of 6.3 mM measured at equilibrium would be fairly accurate if binding takes place according to IF, but quite inaccurate if binding takes place according to CS. This is valuable insight for a mechanism that remains controversial. Glucokinase was originally assumed to bind glucose at a single site according to IF,⁵⁴ and crystal structures of the free and bound forms [Fig. 3(B)] support a sharp conformational transition "induced" by glucose binding.⁵ In contrast, kinetic measurements support CS73 and the existence of alternative conformations in equilibrium prior to the binding of any ligands.⁷⁴ Recent X-ray structures of glucokinase also imply that there is little conformational change upon ligand binding to the enzyme, consistent with the predictions of CS in Eq. (12).⁵⁵ Hence, the large conformational change induced upon glucose binding to the protein documented by structural biology [Fig. 3(B)] is inconclusive because it can be interpreted as the transition from E to E'X according to IF, or the transition from E^* to EX according to CS. Similar inconclusive claims about the validity of IF have been made for the Mycobacterium tuberculosis methionyl-tRNA synthetase from comparison of large structural changes between free and bound forms of the enzyme.⁷⁵ Multiple structures of a macromolecule in the free or bound forms are necessary to rigorously assign a binding mechanism in terms of IF or CS, as shown in the case of Na^+ binding to thrombin [Fig. 5(B)]. The case for IF in glucokinase has resurfaced recently on the basis of the kinetic cooperativity of this enzyme and the need for an interpretation of the kinetic mechanism that involves both IF and CS in the reaction cycle.⁷⁶ The argument is somewhat distinct from our discussion given that the basic equivalence in Eq. (33) may not apply to systems working far from equilibrium and under kinetic turnover. Furthermore, kinetic cooperativity requires a reaction scheme with at least two binding steps.²

The basic equivalence in Eq. (33) also informs the interpretation of ligand binding to the active site of the clotting enzyme thrombin [Figs. 8(A) and 8(B)]. The two relaxations measured experimentally are shown in the same plot to illustrate how the limiting value of the fast relaxation at low ligand concentration is only slightly above the asymptotic value of the slow relaxation. The profile is consistent with both IF [Fig. 8(A)] or CS [Fig. 8(B)], and the two models give indistinguishable fits of experimental data.⁵⁹ The two well-defined relaxations enable resolution of the four independent parameters in the kinetic scheme. Interpretation of the data in terms of IF [Fig. 8(A)] yields best-fit parameter values: $k_{on} = 2.6 \pm 0.1 \,\mu M^{-1} s^{-1}$, $k_{off} = 3.6 \pm 0.1 \, s^{-1}$, $k_{23} = 12 \pm 1 \, s^{-1}$, $k_{32} = 2.6 \pm 0.1 \, s^{-1}$. The mathematically equivalent interpretation in terms of CS [Fig. 8(B)] gives best-fit parameter values: $k_{on} = 2.6 \pm 0.02 \, s^{-1}$, $k_{12} = 14.6 \pm 0.5 \, s^{-1}$, $k_{21} = 3.1 \pm 0.3 \, s^{-1}$. Again, application of Eq. (33) yields the equivalence



FIG. 8. Rates of relaxation for FPR binding to thrombin⁵⁹ under experimental conditions of: 50 mM Tris, 200 mM ChCl, 0.1% PEG8000, pH 8 at 10 °C. The fast relaxation increases linearly with FPR at high concentrations and reflect the binding interaction. The slow relaxation increases hyperbolically with FPR and can be interpreted with either IF or CS. (A) When the data are interpreted with IF, the best-fit parameter values are: $k_{on}^{FE} = 2.6 \pm 0.1 \,\mu M^{-1} s^{-1}$, $k_{off}^{FE} = 3.6 \pm 0.1 \, s^{-1}$, $k_{23} = 12 \pm 1 \, s^{-1}$, $k_{32} = 2.6 \pm 0.1 \, s^{-1}$. (B) The mathematically identical interpretation in terms of CS gives best-fit parameter values: $k_{on}^{CS} = 2.6 \pm 0.1 \,\mu M^{-1} s^{-1}$, $k_{off}^{CF} = 0.50 \pm 0.02 \, s^{-1}$, $k_{12} = 14.6 \pm 0.5 \, s^{-1}$, $k_{21} = 3.1 \pm 0.3 \, s^{-1}$. Note how the interpretation of the lower limit of the fast relaxation and the two limits of the slow relaxation are widely different in the two mechanisms. Importantly, CS allows for a direct assessment of the individual rate constants in the kinetic scheme [Eq. (12)] by simple inspection of the plot. Adapted with permission from Ref. 59.

$$E \overset{2.6}{\underset{3.6}{\overset{\mu M^{-1}}{\underset{s^{-1}}{\overset{s^{-1}x}}{\longrightarrow}}}} EX \underset{2.6}{\overset{12s^{-1}}{\underset{s^{-1}}{\longrightarrow}}} E'X = E^* \underset{3.1s^{-1}}{\overset{14.6s^{-1}}{\underset{s^{-1}}{\longrightarrow}}} E \overset{2.6}{\underset{0.50s^{-1}}{\overset{\mu M^{-1}s^{-1}x}{\longrightarrow}}} EX.$$
 (35)

When binding of FPR to thrombin is interpreted with IF, the intrinsic affinity is relatively high ($K_d = 1.4 \,\mu\text{M}$) due to a near diffusioncontrolled value of k_{on} and is increased further, nearly fivefold, by a conformational rearrangement of the complex that equilibrates with a rate of $k_{23} + k_{32} = 14.6 \text{ s}^{-1}$. The value of $K_{d,app} = 0.25 \,\mu\text{M}$ that would be measured from equilibrium titrations overestimates the affinity of the intrinsic binding interaction by nearly sixfold. The alternative but mathematically equivalent interpretation of the interaction CS results in a significant intrinsic binding affinity ($K_d = 0.19 \,\mu\text{M}$) that involves over 80% of the thrombin molecules that preexist in equilibrium with a conformation that does not bind FPR, with the two conformations reaching equilibrium at a rate $k_{12} + k_{21} = 17.7 \text{ s}^{-1}$. The predicted value of $K_{d,app} = 0.25 \,\mu\text{M}$ guarantees complete equivalence of the two mechanisms in the interpretation of equilibrium titrations and does not differ much from the value of the intrinsic binding constant because of the large fractions of thrombin in the E form. Unlike the case of glucokinase, IF and CS in thrombin envision a fairly rapid binding step that is preceded (CS) or followed (IF) by a rapid conformational transition. The main difference between the two mechanisms resides in the value of k_{off} , which is nearly 10-fold faster in IF than CS, with a predicted value of the intrinsic binding affinity that is considerably weaker for IF. Again, the difference poses a challenge to computational biology.

An important special case of the equivalence in Eq. (33) is the reaction scheme that describes the irreversible binding interaction of a ligand with its macromolecule, i.e.,

$$E \stackrel{k_{on}x}{\underset{k_{off}}{\longleftrightarrow}} EX \stackrel{k_{23}}{\longrightarrow} E'X = E^* \stackrel{k_{23}}{\underset{k_{off}}{\longleftrightarrow}} E \stackrel{k_{on}x}{\longrightarrow} EX.$$
(36)

There are numerous examples in the pharmacology literature of such inhibitors, ^{51,80} with aspirin and penicillin being among the most widely known.^{81,82} Serine protease inhibitors, or serpins, ⁸³ carry out

their important biological function by irreversibly inactivating target proteases. The mechanism of inhibition is typically assumed to obey the IF mechanism [left reaction in Eq. (36)] where a reversible complex forms first and is then converted to a stable, irreversible final product.^{84,85} This widely accepted mechanism of inhibition is mathematically equivalent to an alternative CS mechanism where binding takes place irreversibly only to the *E* form of the macromolecule [right reaction in Eq. (36)]. As for the case in Eq. (33), IF and CS need to be critically examined before any conclusion can be drawn on the mechanism of recognition. This brings about the need for experimental strategies that distinguish between IF and CS.

VIII. DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN IF AND CS

The demonstration that a slow relaxation increasing hyperbolically with the ligand concentration is consistent with both IF and CS calls into questions previous assignments based on the rapid equilibrium approximation²⁰ and creates a need for strategies that can distinguish between IF and CS from analysis of experimental data. The need is made more acute by the complete mathematical equivalence of the two mechanisms according to Eq. (33).⁵⁹ Unlike IF, CS can never be disproved a priori as a mechanism of ligand binding. Indeed, CS is always sufficient to explain the underlying kinetics and becomes necessary when the relaxation decreases hyperbolically with the ligand concentration. This is the case of cytochromes P450 that display remarkable plasticity in their ability to bind substrates and catalyze a broad array of chemical reactions.⁸⁶⁻⁸⁹ Strong evidence exists that such proteins bind ligands according to CS. In the case of cytochrome P450 P19A1, a detailed kinetic analysis using stopped flow has revealed the complexity of the recognition mechanism of three distinct ligands, i.e., androstenedione, testosterone, and 7-hydroxyflavone. A global fit of the entire kinetic traces supports CS and, in the case of testosterone, a multi-step binding mechanism such as the one in Eq. (42).⁸⁶ The glucokinase regulatory protein plays an essential role in glucose homeostasis by acting as a competitive inhibitor of glucokinase and triggering its localization to the hepatocyte nucleus upon glucose

scitation.org/journal/bpr

deprivation. A small-molecule inhibitor of this protein-protein interaction utilizes CS by binding to a conformation of the regulatory protein that accounts for only 3% of the total population.⁹⁰ CS is the driving force in the allosteric transition of Gal3p, an allosteric monomeric protein that activates the GAL genetic switch of Saccharomyces cerevisiae in response to galactose, which may have implications in other signaling pathways involving monomeric proteins.⁹¹ The chaperonin-containing t-complex polypeptide 1 assists protein folding in an ATP-dependent manner. Rapid kinetics experiments reveal a burst phase whose rate decreases with increasing ATP concentration, thereby proving that CS plays a key role in this system before hydrolysis.⁹² Additional systems that directly disprove IF with relaxation rates decreasing with the ligand concentration include alkaline phosphatase,⁹³ glucokinase,⁷³ the immunoglobulin IgE,⁹⁴ and DNA in its B to Z transition.⁹⁵ Several trypsin-like proteases feature kinetic signatures consistent with CS and structural evidence of alternative conformations in preexisting equilibrium in the free form.^{22,60,64,71,96–99} Similar observations have been reported recently for the flaviviral NS2B-NS3 protease.¹⁰⁰ More generally, the immune system exploits CS as a strategy to diversify the repertoire of antigen specificities.¹⁰¹ Conformational rearrangements in antibody antigen recognition are essential events where kinetic discrimination of isomers expands the universe of combinations.

Structural information on the free and bound forms of the macromolecule is often of diagnostic value: evidence of multiple conformations in the free form [Fig. 4(B)] supports CS,¹⁰² and multiple conformations in the bound form support IF.¹⁰³ When structural information is not available or inconclusive, the distinction between the two mechanisms must be made from the kinetic signatures of ligand binding. So far, our treatment of binding mechanisms has relied upon conditions where the ligand is in large excess over the macromolecule. These conditions are known as pseudo-first-order in the ligand concentration and are the most common encountered in practice because they are relatively easy to obtain experimentally and optimize the signal-to-noise ratio. It is instructive to analyze the behavior of the system under conditions where the ligand is no longer in excess over the macromolecule, a situation long used in enzyme kinetics for single turnover assays.^{93,104} We start with the simple lock-and-key mechanism and analyze the behavior of the system when the macromolecule is in excess compared to the ligand.¹⁰⁵ In this case, the kinetic scheme is analogous to Eq. (9), i.e.,

$$X \underset{k_{off}}{\overset{k_{on}e}{\rightleftharpoons}} EX, \tag{37}$$

where *e* denotes the concentration of free macromolecule that does not change significantly when the ligand *X* binds. The system is under pseudo-first-order conditions in the macromolecule concentration. The rate constants k_{on} and k_{off} are the same as in Eq. (9) and can be determined by measurements of the relaxation of the system to equilibrium as a function of the perturbing variable *e*, i.e.,

$$\alpha(e) = k_{on}e + k_{off}.$$
 (38)

The relationship above is analogous to Eq. (10) and introduces a linear relation between the rate of relaxation to equilibrium and the concentration *e*. Consequently, measurements carried out with excess ligand or macromolecule yield the same linear dependence of the

relaxation. When the same conditions of excess macromolecule apply to IF, the relevant reaction scheme becomes

$$X \underset{k_{off}}{\overset{k_{on}e}{\longleftrightarrow}} EX \underset{k_{32}}{\overset{k_{23}}{\longleftrightarrow}} E'X$$
(39)

and is similar to Eq. (11). Accordingly, the two relaxations assume the same form as Eqs. (19a) and (19b) with the independent variable x replaced by e. As for the lock-and-key mechanism, measurements of the relaxations for IF will not change when excess ligand is replaced by excess macromolecule. However, this is not the case for CS. When the ligand is in excess, the macromolecule transitions from the free to the fully bound state as the ligand concentration increases and its distribution in the preexisting equilibrium is drastically affected. When the macromolecule is in excess, the total amount bound to the ligand hardly affects the initial distribution between alternative conformations, and the preexisting equilibrium is no longer detected experimentally. Under conditions where the macromolecule is in excess, the preexisting equilibrium in Eq. (12) is not significantly perturbed upon ligand binding and therefore drops from the kinetic scheme that becomes identical to Eq. (37) for a simple lock-and-key mechanism. When binding obeys CS with excess ligand, it will obey lock-and-key with excess macromolecule. Therefore, IF and CS cannot be distinguished under conditions of excess ligand but become easily distinguishable under conditions of excess macromolecule. This feature of the two mechanisms can be used as a diagnostic test when measurements under excess ligand show a hyperbolic increase in the slow relaxation as a function of x. A comparison of rapid kinetics with excess macromolecule vs excess ligand is expected to produce no differences for IF, but should turn the hyperbolic increase with excess ligand into a straight line or constant value with excess macromolecule for CS.¹⁰⁶ This test has been used to validate IF or CS in various systems,^{63,93,105,107–109} starting with the pioneering work of Halford with E. coli alkaline phosphatase.^{93,104} Galletto *et al.*⁶³ used this approach to distinguish between IF and CS in the analysis of metA binding with DNAC after their simulations revealed that CS could produce a relaxation increasing hyperbolically with the ligand concentration as seen for IF. Measurements with excess thrombin over FPR prove that the relaxations in Fig. 8(A) are due to CS and not IF.¹⁰⁷ Measurements with excess thrombin over the irreversible inhibitor H-D-Phe-Pro-Arg-CH₂Cl (PPACK) also prove that binding takes place according to CS [right portion of Eq. (36)] rather than IF [left portion of Eq. (36)].¹⁰⁹ On the other hand, measurements with excess antithrombin over heparin prove that heparin binding to antithrombin obeys IF and not CS.¹⁰⁸ No diagnostic measurements have been carried out for glucokinase [Fig. 3(A)] by comparing pseudo-first-order conditions of ligand and macromolecule. If feasible, such measurements would help solve some of the existing controversies about the mechanism of binding. In general, a great deal of existing experimental data interpreted according to IF from measurements carried out with excess ligand would benefit from validation with measurements with excess macromolecule.

The mathematical analysis discussed in Eqs. (37)–(39) has been developed by Gianni *et al.*¹⁰⁵ A more detailed mathematical treatment has been presented recently by Paul and Weikl¹⁰⁶ who analyzed the behavior of a system where ligand and macromolecule are present in variable ratios. They found that the kinetic equations of IF, or of the lock-and-key mechanism, depend on the sum of the total

concentrations of ligand and macromolecule⁹³ and are therefore invariant under conditions that alter the relative proportion of these components but not their total balance. That is not the case for CS, where the preexisting equilibrium of the macromolecule is perturbed only when the ligand is in excess.⁹³ The analysis of Paul and Weikl generalizes the kinetic equations for the case of all ligand and macromolecule concentrations. For IF, they find that the slow relaxation is symmetric around a minimum in the ligand concentration $x_{tot} = e_{tot} - K_{d,app}$, where x_{tot} and e_{tot} refer to the total concentrations of ligand and macromolecule. Obviously, the minimum is only observed for $e_{tot} > K_{d,app}$, which puts limitations on practical applications. A defining feature of the dependence of the slow relaxation on x_{tot} rather than x is that the entire function is symmetric around this minimum. In the case of CS, the minimum also depends on the relative values of k_{12} and k_{off} and the function is not symmetric around the minimum. At high enough values of e_{tot} , the relaxation is significantly faster at low x_{tot} values, thereby allowing for a simple distinction with the symmetric curve predicted by IF. The experimental case used to demonstrate the complex behavior of the slow relaxation in the general case is that of recoverin binding to rhodopsin studied by NMR, calorimetry, and stopped flow.¹¹⁰ The authors conclude that protein dynamics in free recoverin limit the overall rate of binding for this interaction and is entirely consistent with CS.

Although the strategy of comparing measurements with excess ligand and excess macromolecule is informative,63,105,106 it may find limited application in practice. Large concentrations of macromolecule may be limited by availability and often produce complications like aggregation or loss of stability. Increasing the ratio of macromolecule over ligand also weakens the amplitude of spectroscopic signal and adds significant error to the kinetic traces. Applicability of the approach based on the general equations involving the total concentrations of ligand and macromolecule offers a clear distinction between IF and CS only for very large concentrations of the macromolecule such that $e_{tot} > K_{d,app}$. For example, in the interaction of two disordered protein domains ACTR and NCBD, two phases can be distinguished when the experiment is performed under pseudo-first-order conditions for ACTR, but the same observation cannot be made easily under pseudo-first-order conditions for NCBD due to the high total fluorescence with excess NCBD.¹⁰⁵ The validity of IF was surmised in this case by assuming that the resulting single phase observed under excess NCBD was the average of the two phases under excess ACTR, vouching for an IF mechanism, as originally assumed.¹¹¹ The conclusion is not rigorous, and the example documents the difficulty of studying a system interchangeably with excess ligand or macromolecule.

Alternative approaches to resolve the ambiguity between IF and CS have been proposed in terms of global fit analysis¹¹² or native and ion mobility mass spectrometry.¹¹³ Other approaches have argued that IF and CS can be distinguished from the effect of mutations far from the binding site for the ligand, which affect mainly k_{off} for IF and k_{on} for CS,¹¹⁴ but the conclusion is not general. Yet other approaches have ruled out *a priori* CS in the case of enzymes with lid-gated active sites such as ribokinase,¹¹⁵ adenosine kinase,¹¹⁶ and glucokinase,¹⁰³ where closure of the lid must follow the binding step to trigger catalysis.¹¹⁷ This argument is easily refuted because the closed conformation of the enzyme may preexist in equilibrium with the open one, as pointed out by Wolfenden.¹¹⁸ That would generate a three-step mechanism

encompassing both CS and IF (see Sec. X), similar to that envisioned by Galletto et al. for MANT-ADP binding to the DnaC protein.63 More convincing support for IF comes from enzymes that undergo a large conformational change to trap substrate in a tight protein cage to promote catalysis.^{119,120} This is the case of triosephosphate isomerase,¹²¹ glycerol phosphate dehydrogenase¹²² and orotidine 5'monophosphate decarboxylase.¹²³ However, the kinetic mechanism of catalysis also requires an inactive open form of the enzyme to coexist in equilibrium with the active closed form prior to ligand binding, as envisioned by CS.¹¹⁹ Selective binding of the ligand to the active form is then the trigger for expression of the full transition-state binding energy. In general, mechanisms of enzyme catalyzed reactions should consider multiple conformations in the free form when defining the steps leading to substrate binding in the transition state instead of limiting the description to IF transitions from poorly active to fully catalytic conformations.¹¹⁹ Finally, IF and CS can be detected as selected pathways or fluxes in extended kinetic mechanisms that encompass both mechanisms as special cases,^{76,124-126} but it is unclear if such approaches have general applicability or are even necessary for the interpretation of systems where only a single relaxation is accessible experimentally under conditions of excess ligand, which is the most common situation encountered in practice. Other, more effective strategies to distinguish between CS and IF make use of the mathematical underpinnings described in Secs. V and VI. A close inspection of Fig. 8 shows that the value of $\alpha_2(0)$ is a complicated function of the rate constants in the case of IF but defines k_{off} in the case of CS. If such a parameter can be determined experimentally from independent measurements, then a direct test of the validity of CS can be obtained. An elegant application of this strategy has been presented recently for sugar binding to LacY¹²⁷ and has helped assign CS as the mechanism of recognition. The authors were able to measure k_{off} from competition experiments and prove that the value coincided with the value of $\alpha_2(0)$ in the plot of the slow relaxation measured experimentally. In general, the value of $\alpha_2(\infty)$ measures a property of the free macromolecule for CS or of the bound complex for IF and is expected to change with different ligands for IF but not for CS. Therefore, a set of carefully designed measurements with different ligands under identical solution conditions may easily discriminate between IF and CS, even under conditions of excess ligand and with a single slow relaxation available experimentally. If the system obeys CS, then the slow relaxation must saturate at the same value for different ligands. This is because the value of $\alpha_2(\infty) = k_{12}$ measures the rate for the $E^* \to E$ transition, which is a property of the free macromolecule, independent of the particular ligand used. A value of $\alpha_2(\infty)$ that changes with different ligands most likely measures the sum $k_{23} + k_{32}$ of the IF mechanism, which will obviously depend on the nature of bound complex formed and rearranged. The data shown in Fig. 5 demonstrate that CS is definitely at play for FPK, but FPR likely obeys the same mechanism because its slow relaxation saturates at the same value as the lower limit of FPK.⁵⁹ Similar conclusions have been drawn for the P-type ATPases when using metal-fluoride complexes⁶² and should have been considered for recent host-guest studies reporting a switch between IF and CS by changing the ligand.¹²

A new and promising way to assign mechanisms of ligand binding has emerged from application of NMR. Molecular recognition according to IF or CS involves preferred binding of a molecule to one of several conformations in solution in the context of the emerging

view of the macromolecule as a conformational ensemble^{43,129,130} promoted by NMR,¹³¹ X-ray crystallography,¹⁰² single molecule spectros-copy,¹³² and cryo-EM.^{133,134} The bound structure can be selected from the ensemble of interconverting conformations in CS or may be generated anew in IF. There is growing appreciation that the link between protein dynamics and ligand concentration can shift a binding mechanism between IF and $CS^{43,125,135-137}$ and that both mechanisms can be detected and distinguished under proper conditions, i.e., using solution NMR spectroscopy that exploits a methyl-transverse relaxation-optimized spectroscopy effect and selective isotope-labeling methodologies.¹³⁸ Such advanced NMR experiments indicate that conformational changes can occur in the free form of the macromolecule (CS) or in the bound complex (IF), but CS requires transition times for ligand binding and unbinding that are small compared to the dwell times of proteins in different conformations, and the reverse is true for IF. This separation of time scales and ordering of events can be determined from relaxation rates and effective binding and dissociations events measured in advanced NMR¹³⁹ or even single molecule Förster resonance energy transfer experiments.¹³² Systems that have been assigned to IF include the Mycobacterium tuberculosis β -lactamase that is mostly rigid in the free form, as established by ¹⁵N relaxation experiments, but becomes more dynamic upon binding of the antibiotic avibactam.¹⁴⁰ IF has been invoked as a mechanism to optimize molecular switches such as aptamers that change their conformation upon target binding to benefit applications in biotechnology and synthetic biology,¹⁴¹ as well as a mechanism for the Asp symporter opening upon Na⁺ binding,¹⁴² for an archaeal homolog of the excitatory amino acid transporter involved in glutamatergic synaptic transmission in the mammalian central nervous system¹⁴³ and for selective inhibitors of the FK506-binding protein 51.144 A number of systems, on the other hand, are more consistent with CS. Both bacterial and human Hsp70 chaperones interact with client proteins by selecting the unfolded state from a preexisting array of interconverting structures, suggesting a conserved mode of client recognition among Hsp70s and highlighting the importance of CS in this recognition.^{138,145} Ligand binding to adenylate kinase¹⁴⁶ and activation of the A2A adenosine G-protein-coupled receptor obey CS.147 In general, molten globule active sites take advantage of CS.¹⁴⁸ The cytokine IL-2 undergoes an open-closed pre-equilibrium revealed by NMR that controls binding to its receptor IL2-Ra and offers opportunities to be manipulated for drug discovery.¹⁴⁹ A similar open-closed pre-equilibrium is observed in the α/β -hydrolase MenH¹⁵⁰ and human glutathione transferase, a major detoxification enzyme and key regulator of cell proliferation.¹⁵¹ Open, closed, and "nucleotide-binding" states preexists for Klentaq1.¹⁵² E7 from human papillomavirus, a prototypic viral oncoprotein and a model intrinsically disordered protein, has an immunodominant epitope within a "hinge" region between the Nterminal intrinsically disordered and the C-terminal globular domains that has at least two populations separated by a high-energy barrier as determined by NMR. Presentation of this viral epitope by the antigenpresenting cells takes place in the low populated conformation.¹⁵³ CS has been documented in the host-guest encapsulation behavior of a new enzyme-mimetic metal-ligand host by NMR studies and kinetic traces where increasing the concentration of the guest inhibits the rate of host-guest relaxation.¹⁵⁴ Similar observations unequivocally supporting CS have been reported recently for macrocyclic receptors by NMR and rapid kinetics studies.¹⁵

IX. THE LINKAGE SCHEME

Both IF and CS extend the original lock-and-key model by incorporating conformational transitions that either precede or follow the binding step. The extension is noteworthy and captures the plasticity of biological macromolecules that is reflected in a relaxation that saturates with increasing ligand concentration. However, both IF and CS have intrinsic limitations because the former does not allow for conformational heterogeneity in the free form of the macromolecule and the latter precludes this plasticity to occur in the bound form. From a statistical thermodynamic standpoint, the bound conformation E'X in IF should also exist in the free form as E', even if in minuscule amounts. By the same argument, the free conformation E^* in CS should be able to bind the ligand as E^*X , even if with minuscule affinity. A polarized division of ligand binding mechanisms in terms of the simple IF and CS fails to capture the complexity of numerous biological macromolecules. The case for a close interplay between IF and CS is supported by numerous arguments and systems. A particularly important example given its general relevance in biology is provided by the rate acceleration of enzyme catalyzed reactions due to stabilizing interactions between the protein and the transition state, which is bound with higher specificity than substrate. An important contribution to this effect comes from the conversion of multiple forms of the enzyme in the free form to fewer, bound rigid forms. Hence, catalysis is optimized by conversion of the initial complex into a more catalytically competent transition state, as envisioned by IF, and collapse of the entropically rich ensemble of conformations in the free form upon binding of substrate, as envisioned by CS.¹¹⁹ The case for a more general scheme that incorporates both IF and CS becomes of the essence. This leads to consideration of the following linkage scheme:

$$E^{*} \xrightarrow{k_{ont}^{*}} E^{*}X$$

$$k_{12} | |k_{21} \qquad k_{43} | |k_{34} , \qquad (40)$$

$$E \xrightarrow{k_{ont}} EX$$

where the macromolecule is assumed to exist in two alternative conformations, each capable of binding the ligand at a single site.^{15,104} The contribution of IF is evident from the $E^* \rightleftharpoons E^* X \rightleftharpoons EX$ pathway, whereas the contribution of CS is shown by the alternative $E^* \rightleftharpoons E \rightleftharpoons EX$ pathway. The scheme has been the subject of intense investigation. The equilibrium properties of the scheme are well known and form the basis of linkage thermodynamics.^{25,30} Botts and Morales provided an exact analytical solution for its properties at steady state,78 Eigen recognized it as the simplest mechanism encompassing both IF and CS as special cases,¹⁵ Wyman analyzed its linkage properties in terms of the "turning wheel" model,¹⁵⁶ Frieden discussed the "hysteresis" properties,⁷⁹ and Hill provided a comprehensive study of the scheme at steady state and far from equilibrium in terms of fluxes and specific paths involving the four species.²⁴ Recent discussions of the linkage scheme have been presented in terms of mutational analysis,¹¹⁴ fluxes,¹³⁶ and diffusion-controlled reactions.¹⁵⁷ Numerous systems have provided compelling evidence of the importance of this scheme. Agitoxin-2 from scorpion venom is a potent blocker of K⁺ channels. Analytical imaging of binding to the KcsA channel in real time using high-speed atomic force microscopy is consistent with the properties of a linkage scheme where IF

predominates.¹⁵⁸ A mechanism involving both IF and CS as in the linkage scheme has been invoked for the binding of MutL to a UvrD monomer-DNA complex,¹⁵⁹ the U1A-RNA interaction,¹⁶⁰ and the binding of an anticancer drug to c-Src kinase.¹⁶¹ Riboswitches bind ligand according to IF and CS depending on solution conditions.¹ Recent single-molecule experiments support a dominant role for IF and the linkage scheme¹⁶⁴ but ligand-detected Carr-Purcell-Meiboom-Gill relaxation dispersion experiments make a strong case for CS and as a valuable diagnostic tool for the characterization of binding mechanisms by NMR.¹⁶⁵ Fluorescence spectroscopy in a microfluidics channel shows that molecular recognition of a-chymotrypsin at two different pH values follows two distinctly different pathways in the linkage scheme, i.e., IF or CS, at high or low ligand concentrations, respectively.¹⁶⁶ Binding-induced folding under unfolding conditions switches progressively from CS to IF.¹⁶⁷ The need for more complex mechanisms that go beyond the simple IF and CS has also emerged from crystallographic and NMR studies on the mitochondrial Tom20 protein-presequence interaction and possibly for other promiscuous recognitions of signal peptides by the RP54/Ffh and SecA proteins.¹⁴ Maltose-binding protein shows structural evidence of conformational transitions preceding and following the binding step.¹

The linkage scheme in Eq. (40) may foster the conclusion that IF and CS split the functional complexity of the entire scheme. This conclusion has cast IF and CS as special cases that dominate the functional behavior of the linkage scheme based on the ligand concentration, with IF prevailing at high ligand concentrations and CS prevailing at low ligand concentrations.^{76,125,126,135,136,157,166} Future studies should reconsider these widely accepted conclusions on the different contributions of IF and CS to the linkage scheme in view of their mathematical equivalence [Eq. (33)]. In fact, it is unlikely that IF and CS split their contribution to the kinetic properties of the linkage scheme given that CS includes IF as a special case⁵⁹ and alone recapitulates most of the functional repertoire of the entire scheme.⁷² There is no functional symmetry or equal partitioning between IF and CS within the linkage scheme, which provides additional evidence of the dominance of CS as a mechanism of ligand binding.

There are four species and eight parameters in the linkage scheme, seven of which are independent due to detailed balancing. Conservation of mass limits the number of independent species to three and gives an equal number of independent relaxations. Two such relaxations refer to the binding interactions $E^* + X \stackrel{\longrightarrow}{\leftarrow} E^*X$ and $E + X \rightleftharpoons EX$, and eventually increase linearly with x. Only one relaxation is saturable and reflects the interplay between binding and conformational transitions. Hence, the linkage scheme produces a single saturable relaxation like the simpler IF and CS schemes. This relaxation may also happen to be the only one accessible to experimental measurements if the two binding interactions are too fast. In general, when only a single saturable relaxation is available, the linkage scheme should be considered as a plausible interpretation of experimental data, especially if the predictions of the simpler IF and CS are not confirmed experimentally. The analytical expressions for the three relaxations of the linkage scheme require solution of a cubic expression of the eigenvalues of the underlying 4×4 matrix associated with the scheme, but they are algebraically cumbersome and of little practical use. However, the limiting values of the saturable relaxation define the salient properties of the linkage scheme. These values are

$$\alpha_{1,2}(0) = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ k_{off} + k_{off}^* + k_{34} + k_{43} \pm \sqrt{\left(k_{off} + k_{off}^* + k_{34} + k_{43}\right)^2 - 4\left(k_{off}k_{off}^* + k_{off}^*k_{34} + k_{off}k_{43}\right)} \right\}$$
(41a)

$$\alpha_{1,2}(\infty) \approx k_{on} x \text{ or } k_{on}^* x \tag{41b}$$

$$\alpha_3(0) = k_{12} + k_{21} \tag{41c}$$

$$\alpha_3(\infty) = k_{34} + k_{43}. \tag{41d}$$

It is understood that the values of $\alpha_{1,2,3}(0)$ must be ranked such that $\alpha_1(0) > \alpha_2(0) > \alpha_3(0)$, and only the value of $\alpha_3(0)$ should be compared with the limit $\alpha_3(\infty) = k_{34} + k_{43}$ to determine if the saturable relaxation increases, decreases, or remains constant as a function of the ligand concentration. The limits for IF and CS are obtained as special cases from Eqs. (41a)-(41d) by removing all rate constants pertaining to CS or IF, respectively. The decoupling of the two limiting values of the saturable relaxation allow for greater flexibility in the analysis of experimental data that may prove beneficial over the stricter predictions of the simpler CS scheme. For example, the linkage scheme does not require FPR and FPK in Fig. 5 to saturate at the same value of the relaxation for $x \to \infty$ because $\alpha_3(\infty) = k_{34} + k_{43}$ depends on the exchange $E^*X \rightleftharpoons EX$ that is a property of the complex, rather than on the $E^* \rightarrow E$ transition that is a property of the free macromolecule. However, in the absence of evidence of two linear relaxations, it is difficult to make a case for the greater mathematical complexity of the linkage scheme and the inability to resolve any of its rate constants [Eq. (40)] from analysis of experimental data. Interestingly, Galburt has recently shown that the saturable relaxation of the linkage scheme may show a minimum under certain conditions, a behavior that is not mathematically possible with either IF or CS. The minimum correlates with a transition in the flux between CS and IF pathways within the linkage scheme. If observed experimentally, such minimum would make a strong case in support of the linkage scheme, even in the absence of the two relaxations referring to the binding steps.¹²⁴

X. OTHER MECHANISMS OF BINDING

When a single, monotonic and saturable relaxation is measured experimentally, CS offers the simplest interpretation of the mechanism of binding. The improved time resolution of stopped flow instruments has made it possible to detect faster events and expand the number of relaxations accessible experimentally. In addition to better resolution of rapid binding components of the kinetic mechanism, recent systems have been able to resolve multiple saturable relaxations and detect kinetic profiles that cannot be accounted for by IF, CS, or even the linkage scheme. When two saturable relaxations are detected, four

distinct scenarios must be considered: both relaxations increase with the ligand concentration [Fig. 9(A)], both decrease [Fig. 9(B)], the fast relaxation increases and the slow one decreases [Fig. 9(C)], or vice versa [Fig. 9(D)]. In all cases, the fast saturable relaxation exceed all values of the slow one. Figure 10 summarizes these different possibilities in the context of available experimental data. To facilitate comparison, the plot displays the log of the ratio $\alpha(\infty)/\alpha(0)$ for the slow saturable relaxation $\alpha_3(x)$ vs that of the fast saturable relaxation $\alpha_2(x)$. We hypothesize that the fastest relaxation $\alpha_1(x)$ is linked to the binding event and is too fast to measure. Experimental data refer to 13 different systems, i.e., immunoglobulins IgE94 and IgG,¹⁷⁰ protein kinase A,¹⁷¹ DnaC,⁶³ CheA,¹⁷² histone deacetylase-like amidohydrolase,¹⁷ polymerase X,¹⁷⁴ 3-hydroxybenzoate 6-hydroxylase,¹⁷ 3-chloroacrylic acid dehalogenase,176 proline utilization A protein,177 ACTR and CREB-binding protein,¹¹¹ G-quadruplex folding,¹⁷ and DnaB. With the exception of DNP-Ser binding to IgE SPE7,⁹⁴ the experimental points populate all quadrants except the one in the upper left where the fast saturable relaxation decreases and the slow one increases with the ligand concentration. Both relaxations increase in 55% of the cases, both decrease in 18% of the cases, and the fast relaxation increases and the slow one decreases in 23% of the cases. A single instance is recorded where the fast relaxation decreases while the slow one increases. What mechanism explains the behavior of such systems and the distribution seen in Fig. 10? A suitable kinetic mechanism should feature at least two conformational transitions associated with two independent relaxations. Expansion of the number of free forms in pre-equilibrium from two to three, while allowing binding to only one of them, generates an extended CS scheme where two saturable relaxations can increase or decrease with x but never in a combination where the fast saturable relaxation decreases and the slow one increases. This extended model does not account for the profile shown in Fig. 9(D) or the data at the top left quadrant of Fig. 10. However, it is notable that this extended CS scheme is capable of reproducing the distribution observed experimentally in the majority of cases⁷² and explains why a decrease in the fast saturable relaxation rarely takes place in conjunction with an increase in the slow one (Fig. 10). On the other hand, extension of IF to include additional conformational transitions following the binding step generates saturable relaxations that always increase with the ligand concentration. Hence, IF cannot generate saturable relaxations that decrease with x, regardless of the number of conformational transitions that follow the binding step. As a result, an expanded IF mechanism only accounts for the case mapping to the upper right quadrant of the plot in Fig. 10 and captures half of the cases observed experimentally. The difference in kinetic profiles observed between expanding CS and IF supports the conclusion that functional complexity is achieved by increasing the conformational heterogeneity of the free form of the macromolecule, i.e., by increasing the number of preexisting conformations of the macromolecule from which the ligand selects the best fit. The contribution to kinetic complexity from increased heterogeneity of the bound forms is significantly smaller.

A simple combination of IF and CS produces a kinetic mechanism of considerable versatility that accounts for all cases reported in Fig. $10.^{72}$ Elimination of one binding step in the linkage scheme [Eq. (40)] has the interesting effect of removing one of the two relaxations reflecting binding but increasing the relaxations linked to conformational transitions. This is because linearization of the linkage scheme keeps the number of independent species and



FIG. 9. Four possible outcomes for a system obeying two saturable relaxations, fast and slow, that both (A) increase and (B) decrease, with (C) the fast relaxation increasing and the slow one decreasing or (D) vice versa. These scenarios map to the four quadrant plot in Fig. 10, where the log of the ratio $\alpha(\infty)/\alpha(0)$ for the slow relaxation is plotted vs that of the fast relaxation.



FIG. 10. Four-quadrant plot of the log of the ratio $\alpha(\infty)/\alpha(0)$ for the slow relaxation, r₃, vs that of the fast relaxation, r₂ (see also Table I). Experimental data points refer to 13 different systems: IgE⁵⁴ (green circles), IgE¹⁵⁰ (green square), 3-hydroxybenzoate 6-hydroxylase¹⁷⁵ (green triangle), DnaC⁶³ (yellow circle), poly-merase X¹⁷⁴ (yellow square), CheA¹⁷² (yellow triangle), protein kinase A¹⁷¹ (red circles), K⁺-mediated G-quadruplex folding¹⁷⁸ (red squares), 3-chloroacrylic acid dehalogenase¹⁷⁶ (red triangle), DnaB¹⁷⁹ (blue circles), histone deacetylase-like amidohydrolase¹⁷³ (blue square), proline utilization A protein¹⁷⁷ (blue triangle). amidohydrolase¹⁷³ (blue square), proline utilization A protein¹⁷⁷ (blue triangle), ACTR, and CREB-binding protein¹¹¹ (orange circle). The top left quadrant refers to (orange circle). The top left quadrant refers to the case where the fast relaxation decreases and the slow one increases [see also Fig. 9(D)] and contains a single data point from DNP-Ser binding to IgE SPE7. The top right quadrant refers to the case where both relaxations increase [see also Fig. 9(A)] and contains 55% of the experimental points. The bottom right quadrant refers to the case where the fast relaxation increases and the slow one decreases [see also Fig. 9(C)] and contains 23% of the cases. The bottom left quadrant refers to the case of both relaxations decreasing [see also Fig. 9(B)] and contains 18% of the cases. Red dots depict values generated by the kinetic scheme in Eq. (43) from a total of 5 million simulations of the relaxations in Eqs. (46a) and (46b). Rate constants were generated over a range of 6 orders of magnitude using the expression $k = 1000e^{-\omega}$, where ω is a normally distributed random number with $\mu = 0$ and $\sigma = 3$. The kinetic scheme in Eq. (43) accounts for all possible outcomes in the plot. Adapted with permission from Ref. 72.

relaxations unchanged. The mechanism entails a preexisting equilibrium between two forms of the macromolecule, allowing selective binding to one of the forms and subsequent isomerization to a second bound form, i.e.,

$$E^* \underset{k_{21}}{\overset{k_{12}}{\longleftrightarrow}} E \underset{k_{off}}{\overset{k_{onx}}{\longleftrightarrow}} EX \underset{k_{43}}{\overset{k_{34}}{\longleftrightarrow}} E'X.$$
(42)

There are six independent parameters in the scheme and three independent species, leading to three non-zero eigenvalues in the 4×4 matrix associated with it. The general solution of the scheme is again a cubic expression as for the linkage scheme and algebraically cumbersome. However, the functional versatility of the scheme can be appreciated by a simplified version under the rapid equilibrium approximation where the binding step is assumed to be considerably faster than the conformational transitions $E^* \stackrel{\sim}{\leftarrow} E$ and $EX \stackrel{\sim}{\leftarrow} E'X$. Under this assumption, the scheme contracts to

$$E^* \underset{k_{21}}{\overset{k_{12}}{\longleftrightarrow}} \langle E|EX \rangle \underset{k_{43}}{\overset{k_{34}}{\longleftrightarrow}} E'X, \tag{43}$$

which is equivalent to the following two-step mechanism directly expanding Eq. (1), i.e.,

$$E_1 \underset{k_{21}}{\overset{k_{12}}{\longleftrightarrow}} E_{23} \underset{k_{43}}{\overset{k_{34}}{\longleftrightarrow}} E_4.$$
(44)

The numbering in Eq. (44) has been modified to match the rate constants in Eq. (43) and to indicate that the species E_{23} is the equilibrium distribution of the two individual species E_2 and E_3 . The two independent relaxations associated with Eq. (44) are

$$\alpha_{2,3} = \frac{1}{2} \bigg\{ k_{12} + k_{21} + k_{34} + k_{43} \pm \sqrt{[k_{12} + k_{21} - k_{34} - k_{43}]^2 + 4k_{21}k_{34}} \bigg\}.$$
(45)

Again, we note that the sums $k_{12} + k_{21}$ and $k_{34} + k_{43}$, measuring the rates at which the transitions $E_1 \rightleftharpoons E_{23}$ and $E_{23} \rightleftharpoons E_4$ reach equilibrium, make a symmetric contribution to Eq. (45) and can be swapped without consequences. On the other hand, the term $k_{21}k_{34}$ makes a unique contribution to Eq. (45) that depends on rates that selectively deplete the E_{23} intermediate. The fast relaxation in the extended scheme [Eq. (42)] is the same as the lock-and-key expression in Eq. (9). The two slower relaxations $\alpha_2(x)$ and $\alpha_3(x)$ associated with the conformational transitions are derived from Eq. (45) as

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_2(f) &= \frac{1}{2} \Big\{ k_{12} + k_{21}(1-f) + k_{34}f + k_{43} \\ &+ \sqrt{[k_{12} + k_{21}(1-f) - k_{34}f - k_{43}]^2 + 4k_{21}k_{34}f(1-f)} \Big\} \end{aligned}$$
(46a)

$$\alpha_{3}(f) = \frac{1}{2} \Big\{ k_{12} + k_{21}(1-f) + k_{34}f + k_{43} \\ - \sqrt{[k_{12} + k_{21}(1-f) - k_{34}f - k_{43}]^{2} + 4k_{21}k_{34}f(1-f)} \Big\}$$
(46b)

$$f = \frac{x}{K_d + x},\tag{46c}$$

where *f* measures the fractional satuaration of *E* within the rapid equilibrium exchange $\langle E|EX\rangle$. The limiting values of these relaxations are

$$\alpha_2(0) = larger of k_{12} + k_{21} or k_{43}$$
(47a)

$$\alpha_3(0) = smaller of k_{12} + k_{21} or k_{43}$$
(47b)

$$\alpha_2(\infty) = larger of k_{12} or k_{34} + k_{43}$$
(47c)

$$\alpha_3(\infty) = smaller of k_{12} or k_{34} + k_{43}.$$
(47d)

Four cases must be considered depending on the values of the $\alpha_2(\infty)/\alpha_2(0)$ and $\alpha_3(\infty)/\alpha_3(0)$, i.e.,

Case1:
$$r_2 = \frac{k_{12}}{k_{12} + k_{21}}$$
 and $r_3 = \frac{k_{34} + k_{43}}{k_{43}}$
fast decreases, slow increases (48a)

Case 2 :
$$r_2 = \frac{k_{12}}{k_{43}}$$
 and $r_3 = \frac{k_{34} + k_{43}}{k_{12} + k_{21}}$
fast increases slow decreases (48b)

Case 3 :
$$r_2 = \frac{k_{34} + k_{43}}{k_{12} + k_{21}}$$
 and $r_3 = \frac{k_{12}}{k_{43}}$
fast decreases/increases, slow decreases/increases

Biophysics Reviews

TABLE I. Basic kinetic schemes and their kinetic properties.

Kinetic Scheme	Relaxations
$E \stackrel{k_{on}x}{\underset{k}{\longrightarrow}} EX$	$lpha(x)=k_{on}x+k_{off}$
$E \stackrel{k_{off}}{\underset{k_{off}}{\overset{k_{ons}}{\underset{k_{ons}}}{\underset{k_{ons}}{\underset{k_{ons}}}{\underset{k_{ons}}}{\underset{k_{ons}}{\underset{k_{ons}}}{\underset{k_{ons}}}{\underset{k_{ons}}{\underset{k_{ons}}}{\underset{k_{ons}}}{\underset{k_{ons}}}{\underset{k_{ons}}}{\underset{k_{ons}}}{\underset{k_{ons}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}$	$\alpha_1(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ k_{on}x + k_{off} + k_{23} + k_{32} + \sqrt{\left(k_{on}x + k_{off} - k_{23} - k_{32}\right)^2 + 4k_{off}k_{23}} \right\}$
Kaff K32	$lpha_2(x) = rac{1}{2} igg\{ k_{on}x + k_{off} + k_{23} + k_{32} - \sqrt{ig(k_{on}x + k_{off} - k_{23} - k_{32}ig)^2 + 4k_{off}k_{23}} igg\}$
	$lpha_1(0) = rac{1}{2} igg\{ k_{o\!f\!f} + k_{23} + k_{32} + \sqrt{ig(k_{o\!f\!f} - k_{23} - k_{32}ig)^2 + 4k_{o\!f\!f}k_{23}} igg\}$
	$lpha_1(\infty) pprox k_{on} x$
	$lpha_2(0) = rac{1}{2} igg\{ k_{o\!f\!f} + k_{23} + k_{32} - \sqrt{ig(k_{o\!f\!f} - k_{23} - k_{32}ig)^2 + 4k_{o\!f\!f}k_{23}} igg\}$
	$lpha_2(\infty)=k_{23}+k_{32}$
$E^* \stackrel{k_{12}}{\underset{k_{21}}{\longleftrightarrow}} E \stackrel{k_{on}x}{\underset{k_{off}}{\rightleftharpoons}} EX$	$lpha_1(x) = rac{1}{2} igg\{ k_{on}x + k_{off} + k_{12} + k_{21} + \sqrt{ig(k_{on}x + k_{off} - k_{12} - k_{21}ig)^2 + 4k_{21}k_{on}x} igg\}$
	$lpha_2(x) = rac{1}{2} \left\{ k_{on}x + k_{off} + k_{12} + k_{21} - \sqrt{\left(k_{on}x + k_{off} - k_{12} - k_{21} ight)^2 + 4k_{21}k_{on}x} ight\}$
	$lpha_1(0) = larger \ of \ k_{off} \ or \ k_{12} + k_{21}$
	$lpha_1(\infty)pprox k_{on}x$
	$lpha_2(0) = smaller \ of \ k_{off} \ or \ k_{12} + k_{21}$
	$lpha_2(\infty)=k_{12}$
$E^* \qquad \stackrel{k_{on}^* x}{\underset{k_{off}^*}{\longleftarrow}} \qquad E^* X$	$\alpha_1(0) = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ k_{off} + k_{off}^* + k_{34} + k_{43} + \sqrt{\left(k_{off} + k_{off}^* + k_{34} + k_{43}\right)^2 - 4\left(k_{off}k_{off}^* + k_{off}^*k_{34} + k_{off}k_{43}\right)} \right\}$
$\begin{array}{ccc} k_{12} \restriction k_{21} & k_{43} \restriction k_{34} \\ E & \stackrel{k_{on}x}{\longleftrightarrow} & EX \end{array}$	$\alpha_{2}(0) = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ k_{off} + k_{off}^{*} + k_{34} + k_{43} - \sqrt{\left(k_{off} + k_{off}^{*} + k_{34} + k_{43}\right)^{2} - 4\left(k_{off}k_{off}^{*} + k_{off}^{*}k_{34} + k_{off}k_{43}\right)} \right\}$
k_{off}	$lpha_{3}(0) = k_{12} + k_{21}$
	$lpha_1(\infty) pprox \textit{larger of } k_{on}x \textit{ or } k_{on}^*x$
	$lpha_2(\infty) pprox \textit{smaller of } k_{on}x \textit{ or } k_{on}^*x$
	$\alpha_3(\infty) = k_{34} + k_{43}$
$E^* \stackrel{k_{12}}{\underset{k_{21}}{\longleftrightarrow}} E \stackrel{k_{onx}}{\underset{k_{off}}{\longleftrightarrow}} EX \stackrel{k_{34}}{\underset{k_{43}}{\longleftrightarrow}} E'X$	$\alpha_2(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ k_{12} + k_{21}(1-f) + k_{34}f + k_{43} + \sqrt{\left[k_{12} + k_{21}(1-f) - k_{34}f - k_{43}\right]^2 + 4k_{21}k_{34}f(1-f)} \right\}$
Under the rapid equilibrium approximation	$\alpha_3(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ k_{12} + k_{21}(1-f) + k_{34}f + k_{43} - \sqrt{\left[k_{12} + k_{21}(1-f) - k_{34}f - k_{43}\right]^2 + 4k_{21}k_{34}f(1-f)} \right\}$
$F^* \xrightarrow{k_{12}} \langle F FX \rangle \xrightarrow{k_{34}} F'X$	$a_2(0) = larger of k_{12} + k_{23}$ or k_{12}
$L \xrightarrow{k_{21}} (L L X) \xrightarrow{k_{43}} L X$	$\alpha_2(0) = marger of k_{12} + k_{21} or k_{43}$ $\alpha_3(0) = smaller of k_{12} + k_{21} or k_{43}$
	$\alpha_2(\infty) = larger of k_{12} or k_{34} + k_{43}$
	$\alpha_3(\infty) = smaller of k_{12} or k_{34} + k_{43}$
	Case 1: $r_2 = \frac{\kappa_{12}}{\kappa_{12} + \kappa_{13}}$ and $r_3 = \frac{\kappa_{34} + \kappa_{43}}{\kappa_{13}}$ fast \downarrow , slow \uparrow [Fig. 9(D)]
	$k_{12} + k_{21} = k_{12} + k_{21} + k_{34} + k_{43} + k$
	Case 2: $r_2 = \frac{1}{k_{43}}$ and $r_3 = \frac{1}{k_{12} + k_{21}}$ fast [, slow \downarrow [Fig. 9(C)]
	Case 3: $r_2 = \frac{k_{34} + k_{43}}{k_{12} + k_{21}}$ and $r_3 = \frac{k_{12}}{k_{43}}$ fast $\uparrow \downarrow$, slow $\uparrow \downarrow$ [Figs. 9(A)–(D)]
	Case 4: $r_2 = \frac{k_{34} + k_{43}}{k_{12}}$ and $r_3 = \frac{k_{12}}{k_{12} + k_{23}}$ fast \uparrow , slow \downarrow [Fig. 9(C)]
	$N_{45} N_{12} + N_{21}$

Case 4:
$$r_2 = \frac{k_{34} + k_{43}}{k_{43}}$$
 and $r_3 = \frac{k_{12}}{k_{12} + k_{21}}$
fast increases, slow decreases. (48d)

Case 1 corresponds to Fig. 9(D), while cases 2 and 4 correspond to Fig. 9(C). Case 3 deserves attention because it generates all possible profiles in Fig. 9. The slow relaxation can increase, decrease, or remain constant depending on the relative values of k_{12} and k_{43} , and so does the fast relaxation. For example, a small enough value of k_{21} associated with $r_3 > 1$ generates two saturable relaxations that both increase as in Fig. 9(A). On the other hand, a large enough value of k_{21} associated with $r_3 < 1$ generates two saturable relaxations that both decrease as in Fig. 9(B). The linear scheme in Eq. (42) includes both IF and CS, and feature enough flexibility to capture the gamut of functional behaviors observed experimentally as shown in Fig. 10 for 13 different systems.

XI. DISCUSSION

Assignment of a mechanism of ligand binding from analysis of experimental data has dominated theoretical discussions and experimental investigations for decades. Interpretations of molecular recognition in biology have evolved from the rigid body association of the lock-and-key mechanism to the recognition of conformational transitions through the allosteric concept. This view has further expanded recently to embrace the role of dynamics and molecular ensembles^{43,129,130} unraveled by advanced techniques such as single molecule detection,¹³² NMR,^{131,138,180} and cryo-EM.^{133,134} Several studies have emphasized conformational plasticity and dynamics as key components of macromolecular function, ranging from ligand binding to catalysis.^{27,46,181,182} A distinguishing feature of the interplay between function and dynamics is that macromolecular motion involves communication between segments of the macromolecule that are far apart183 and that the timescale for such molecular changes closely matches events such as catalysis¹⁸¹ or ligand dissociation.¹⁸⁴ But no matter how sophisticated our investigation of the properties of a system become, experiments must eventually reconcile information from independent components of our analysis, especially structure and kinetics. This review addressed the role of kinetics in unraveling a mechanism of recognition under conditions most commonly encountered in practice, i.e., the binding of a ligand to a single site of a macromolecular target with the ligand present in excess over the macromolecule and in the absence of changes in ligand linked aggregation. The kinetic properties of these mechanisms are summarized in Table I. Most systems feature a kinetic profile consistent with one saturable relaxation that unequivocally proves the presence of conformational transitions. Whether these transitions precede (CS) or follow ^{,53,64,93} A (IF), the binding step has been debated for decades.²² description of binding in terms of the linkage scheme [Eq. (40)] encompassing IF and CS as special cases^{15,24,136,156} has added value to the debate. The mathematical treatment presented in this review hopefully provided impetus to continue the theoretical investigation of this important area.

The main conclusion of our analysis is that a single saturable relaxation under conditions of excess ligand never disproves *a priori* CS as a mechanism of ligand binding and never makes IF a necessary interpretation of experimental facts.^{64,72} Any experimental dataset compatible with IF can be interpreted with identical mathematical

rigor in terms of CS,⁵⁹ which invites a reassessment of conclusions drawn using the rapid equilibrium approximation. The preponderance of systems relaxing to equilibrium with a single saturable relaxation that increases with the ligand concentration has been viewed as dominance of IF as a mechanism of molecular recognition in biology. $\!\!\!\!\!^{4,15,22,28,104}_{\rm A}$ A similar dominant role for IF has been invoked in enzyme catalysis^{33,119} and as a mechanism to explain the action of irreversible inhibitors,^{51,80,83} without consideration of CS as an alternative interpretation. We have proved that CS is far more versatile then IF as a mechanism of ligand binding and provides a conceptual framework that better fits our current view of macromolecules as dynamic ensembles. If macromolecules are intrinsically plastic in the free form, a correct interpretation of their kinetic properties must reflect such plasticity. CS also generates functional complexity and to a greater extent than IF, even when incorporated into more complex kinetic mechanisms predicting multiple saturable relaxations for the system (Fig. 10). The greater functional contribution of CS to the linkage scheme and the resulting functional asymmetry of a mechanism long recognized as encompassing IF and CS as special cases^{15,24,136,1} deserves attention from future investigations. Biological systems have great complexity, which is increasingly revealed by progress made in experimental techniques. Yet, Ockham's razor reminds us of the value of simple explanations of experimental facts.

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed equally to this manuscript. All authors reviewed the final manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This review summarizes the contributions of many current and former members of the lab to whom I am deeply grateful. Special mentions go to Austin Vogt for his analysis of the mathematical properties of IF and CS in the general case^{64,72} and to Pradipta Chakraborty for testing such properties experimentally.^{59,65} Tracey Baird provided excellent assistance with illustrations. This work was supported in part by the National Institutes of Health Research Grant Nos. HL049413, HL139554, and HL147821.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

REFERENCES

- ¹E. Fischer, "Einfluss der Configuration auf die Wirkung der Enzyme," Berichte der deutschen chemischen Gesellschaft **27**, 2985–2993 (1894).
- ²A. D. G. Lawson, M. Maccoss, and J. P. Heer, "Importance of rigidity in designing small molecule drugs to tackle protein-protein interactions (PPIs) through stabilization of desired conformers," J. Med. Chem. **61**, 4283–4289 (2018).
- ³J. Wyman, Jr. and D. W. Allen, "On hemoglobin and the basis of the Bohr effect," J. Polym. Sci. 7, 499–518 (1951).
- ⁴M. Eigen, "Determination of general and specific ionic interactions in solution," Discuss. Faraday Soc. 24, 25–36 (1957).
- ⁵D. E. Koshland, "Application of a theory of enzyme specificity to protein synthesis," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 44, 98–104 (1958).
- ⁶F. Jacob and J. Monod, "Genetic regulatory mechanisms in the synthesis of proteins," J. Mol. Biol. 3, 318–356 (1961).

- ⁷J. Monod, J. P. Changeux, and F. Jacob, "Allosteric proteins and cellular control systems," J. Mol. Biol. **6**, 306–329 (1963).
- ⁸J. Monod, J. Wyman, and J. P. Changeux, "On the nature of allosteric transitions: A plausible model," J. Mol. Biol. **12**, 88–118 (1965).
- ⁹D. E. Koshland, G. Némethy, and D. Filmer, "Comparison of experimental binding data and theoretical models in proteins containing subunits," Biochemistry 5, 365–385 (1966).
- ¹⁰H. Frauenfelder, F. Parak, and R. D. Young, "Conformational substates in proteins," Ann. Rev. Biophys. Biophys. Chem. **17**, 451–479 (1988).
- ¹¹H. Frauenfelder, S. G. Sligar, and P. G. Wolynes, "The energy landscapes and motions of proteins," Science 254, 1598–1603 (1991).
- ¹²F. Feixas, S. Lindert, W. Sinko, and J. A. McCammon, "Exploring the role of receptor flexibility in structure-based drug discovery," Biophys. Chem. 186, 31-45 (2014).
- ¹³A. Cooper and D. T. Dryden, "Allostery without conformational change: A plausible model," Eur. Biophys. J. 11, 103–109 (1984).
- ¹⁴K. K. Frederick, M. S. Marlow, K. G. Valentine, and A. J. Wand, "Conformational entropy in molecular recognition by proteins," Nature 448, 325–329 (2007).
- ¹⁵M. Eigen, "New looks and outlooks in physical enzymology," Quart. Rev. Biophys. 1, 3–33 (1968).
- ¹⁶J. Kuriyan and D. Eisenberg, "The origin of protein interactions and allostery in colocalization," Nature **450**, 983–990 (2007).
- ¹⁷J. P. Changeux and S. J. Edelstein, "Allosteric mechanisms of signal transduction," Science 308, 1424–1428 (2005).
- ¹⁸K. Gunasekaran, B. Ma, and R. Nussinov, "Is allostery an intrinsic property of all dynamic proteins?," Proteins: Struct. Function Bioinform. 57, 433–443 (2004).
- ¹⁹D. Kern and E. R. Zuiderweg, "The role of dynamics in allosteric regulation," Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 13, 748–757 (2003).
- ²⁰H. N. Motlagh, J. O. Wrabl, J. Li, and V. J. Hilser, "The ensemble nature of allostery," Nature **508**, 331–339 (2014).
- ²¹N. Popovych, S. Sun, R. H. Ebright, and C. G. Kalodimos, "Dynamically driven protein allostery," Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 13, 831–838 (2006).
- ²²A. R. Fersht, Enzyme Structure and Mechanism (Freeman, New York, 1999).
- ²³H. Gutfreund, Kinetics for the Life Sciences: Receptors, Transmitters and Catalysts (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995).
- ²⁴T. L. Hill, Free Energy Transduction in Biology (Academic Press, New York, 1977).
- 25 J. Wyman and S. J. Gill, *Binding and Linkage* (University Science Books, Mill Valley, CA, 1990).
- ²⁶M. T. Record, Jr., C. F. Anderson, and T. M. Lohman, "Thermodynamic analysis of ion effects on the binding and conformational equilibria of proteins and nucleic acids: The roles of ion association or release, screening, and ion effects on water activity," Q. Rev. Biophys. **11**, 103–178 (1978).
- ²⁷G. Schreiber, G. Haran, and H. X. Zhou, "Fundamental aspects of proteinprotein association kinetics," Chem. Rev. 109, 839–860 (2009).
- ²⁸P. J. Tummino and R. A. Copeland, "Residence time of receptor-ligand complexes and its effect on biological function," <u>Biochemistry</u> 47, 5481–5492 (2008).
- ²⁹R. Baron and J. A. McCammon, "Molecular recognition and ligand association," Ann. Rev. Phys. Chem. 64, 151–175 (2013).
- 30 E. Di Cera, Thermodynamic Theory of Site-Specific Binding Processes in Biological Macromolecules (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995).
- ³¹J. Wyman, Jr., "Linked functions and reciprocal effects in hemoglobin: A second look," Adv. Protein Chem. **19**, 223–286 (1964).
- 32 J. Wyman, Jr., "Heme proteins," Adv. Protein Chem. 4, 407–531 (1948).
- ³³K. A. Johnson, "Role of induced fit in enzyme specificity: A molecular forward/reverse switch," J. Biol. Chem. 283, 26297–26301 (2008).
- ³⁴J. Piehler, "New methodologies for measuring protein interactions *in vivo* and *in vitro*," Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 15, 4–14 (2005).
- ³⁵K. E. van Holde, "A hypothesis concerning diffusion-limited protein-ligand interactions," Biophys. Chem. 101–102, 249–254 (2002).
- ³⁶H. Terlau, K. J. Shon, M. Grilley, M. Stocker, W. Stühmer, and B. M. Olivera, "Strategy for rapid immobilization of prey by a fish-hunting marine snail," Nature **381**, 148–151 (1996).

- ³⁷Z. Radić, P. D. Kirchhoff, D. M. Quinn, J. A. McCammon, and P. Taylor, "Electrostatic influence on the kinetics of ligand binding to acetylcholinesterase: Distinctions between active center ligands and fasciculin," J. Biol. Chem. 272, 23265–23277 (1997).
- ³⁸S. R. Stone and J. Hofsteenge, "Kinetics of the inhibition of thrombin by hirudin," Biochemistry 25, 4622–4628 (1986).
- ³⁹R. J. Johnson, J. G. McCoy, C. A. Bingman, G. N. Phillips, Jr., and R. T. Raines, "Inhibition of human pancreatic ribonuclease by the human ribonuclease inhibitor protein," J. Mol. Biol. **368**, 434–449 (2007).
- ⁴⁰L. Hemsath, R. Dvorsky, D. Fiegen, M. F. Carlier, and M. R. Ahmadian, "An electrostatic steering mechanism of Cdc42 recognition by Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome proteins," Mol. Cell. **20**, 313–324 (2005).
- ⁴¹P. S. Hasenhuetl, K. Schicker, X. Koenig, Y. Li, S. Sarker, T. Stockner, S. Sucic, H. H. Sitte, M. Freissmuth, and W. Sandtner, "Ligand selectivity among the dopamine and serotonin transporters specified by the forward binding reactions," Mol. Pharm. 88, 12–18 (2015).
- ⁴²S. Perrett, R. Zahn, G. Stenberg, and A. R. Fersht, "Importance of electrostatic interactions in the rapid binding of polypeptides to GroEL," J. Mol. Biol. 269, 892–901 (1997).
- ⁴³D. D. Boehr, D. McElheny, H. J. Dyson, and P. E. Wright, "The dynamic energy landscape of dihydrofolate reductase catalysis," Science 313, 1638–1642 (2006).
- ⁴⁴D. D. Boehr, R. Nussinov, and P. E. Wright, "The role of dynamic conformational ensembles in biomolecular recognition," Nat. Chem. Biol. 5, 789–796 (2009).
- ⁴⁵W. Doster, S. Cusack, and W. Petry, "Dynamical transition of myoglobin revealed by inelastic neutron scattering," Nature 337, 754–756 (1989).
- ⁴⁶K. Henzler-Wildman and D. Kern, "Dynamic personalities of proteins," Nature 450, 964–972 (2007).
- ⁴⁷K. A. Henzler-Wildman, M. Lei, V. Thai, S. J. Kerns, M. Karplus, and D. Kern, "A hierarchy of timescales in protein dynamics is linked to enzyme catalysis," Nature 450, 913–916 (2007).
- ⁴⁸K. A. Henzler-Wildman, V. Thai, M. Lei, M. Ott, M. Wolf-Watz, T. Fenn, E. Pozharski, M. A. Wilson, G. A. Petsko, M. Karplus, C. G. Hübner, and D. Kern, "Intrinsic motions along an enzymatic reaction trajectory," Nature 450, 838–844 (2007).
- ⁴⁹S. Gianni, Y. Ivarsson, A. Bah, L. A. Bush-Pelc, and E. Di Cera, "Mechanism of Na⁺ binding to thrombin resolved by ultra-rapid kinetics," Biophys. Chem. 131, 111–114 (2007).
- ⁵⁰B. M. Stojanovski, Z. Chen, S. K. Koester, L. A. Pelc, and E. Di Cera, "Role of the I16-D194 ionic interaction in the trypsin fold," Sci. Rep. 9, 18035 (2019).
- ⁵¹S. Cha, "Tight-binding inhibitors: I. Kinetic behavior," Biochem. Pharmacol. 24, 2177–2185 (1975).
- ⁵²M. Amaral, D. B. Kokh, J. Bomke, A. Wegener, H. P. Buchstaller, H. M. Eggenweiler, P. Matias, C. Sirrenberg, R. C. Wade, and M. Frech, "Protein conformational flexibility modulates kinetics and thermodynamics of drug binding," Nat. Commun. 8, 2276 (2017).
- 53 J. P. Changeux and S. Edelstein, "Conformational selection or induced fit? 50 years of debate resolved," F1000 Biol. Rep. 3, 19 (2011).
- ⁵⁴V. V. Heredia, J. Thomson, D. Nettleton, and S. Sun, "Glucose-induced conformational changes in glucokinase mediate allosteric regulation: transientTransient kinetic analysis," Biochemistry 45, 7553–7562 (2006).
- ⁵⁵P. Petit, M. Antoine, G. Ferry, J. A. Boutin, A. Lagarde, L. Gluais, R. Vincentelli, and L. Vuillard, "The active conformation of human glucokinase is not altered by allosteric activators," Acta Crystallogr. D. Biol. Crystallogr. 67, 929–935 (2011).
- ⁵⁶K. Kamata, M. Mitsuya, T. Nishimura, J. Eiki, and Y. Nagata, "Structural basis for allosteric regulation of the monomeric allosteric enzyme human glucokinase," Structure 12, 429–438 (2004).
 ⁵⁷A. O. Pineda, C. J. Carrell, L. A. Bush, S. Prasad, S. Caccia, Z. W. Chen, F. S.
- ⁵⁷A. O. Pineda, C. J. Carrell, L. A. Bush, S. Prasad, S. Caccia, Z. W. Chen, F. S. Mathews, and E. Di Cera, "Molecular dissection of Na+ binding to thrombin," J. Biol. Chem. **279**, 31842–31853 (2004).
- ⁵⁸A. O. Pineda, Z. W. Chen, A. Bah, L. C. Garvey, F. S. Mathews, and E. Di Cera, "Crystal structure of thrombin in a self-inhibited conformation," J. Biol. Chem. 281, 32922–32928 (2006).
- ⁵⁹P. Chakraborty and E. Di Cera, "Induced fit is a special case of conformational selection," Biochemistry 56, 2853–2859 (2017).

- ⁶⁰A. Bah, L. C. Garvey, J. Ge, and E. Di Cera, "Rapid kinetics of Na⁺ binding to thrombin," J. Biol. Chem. **281**, 40049–40056 (2006).
- ⁶¹I. Schechter and A. Berger, "On the size of the active site in proteases: I. Papain," Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 27, 157–162 (1967).
- ⁶²S. E. Faraj, M. Centeno, R. C. Rossi, and M. R. Montes, "A kinetic comparison between E2P and the E2P-like state induced by a beryllium fluoride complex in the Na,K-ATPase. interactions with Rb⁺," Biochim. Biophys. Acta Biomem. **1861**, 355–365 (2019).
- ⁶³R. Galletto, M. J. Jezewska, and W. Bujalowski, "Kinetics of allosteric conformational transition of a macromolecule prior to ligand binding: Analysis of stopped-flow kinetic experiments," Cell Biochem. Biophys. 42, 121–144 (2005).
- ⁶⁴A. D. Vogt and E. Di Cera, "Conformational selection or induced fit? A critical appraisal of the kinetic mechanism," <u>Biochemistry</u> 51, 5894–5902 (2012).
- ⁶⁵P. Chakraborty, L. Acquasaliente, L. A. Pelc, and E. Di Cera, "Interplay between conformational selection and zymogen activation," Sci. Rep. 8, 4080 (2018).
- ⁶⁶Z. Chen, L. A. Pelc, and E. Di Cera, "Crystal structure of prethrombin-1," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 107, 19278–19283 (2010).
- ⁶⁷N. Pozzi, Z. Chen, F. Zapata, L. A. Pelc, S. Barranco-Medina, and E. Di Cera, "Crystal structures of prethrombin-2 reveal alternative conformations under identical solution conditions and the mechanism of zymogen activation," Biochemistry 50, 10195–10202 (2011).
- ⁶⁸S. J. Degen and E. W. Davie, "Nucleotide sequence of the gene for human prothrombin," <u>Biochemistry</u> 26, 6165–6177 (1987).
- ⁶⁹M. Chinnaraj, Z. Chen, L. A. Pelc, Z. Grese, D. Bystranowska, E. Di Cera, and N. Pozzi, "Structure of prothrombin in the closed form reveals new details on the mechanism of activation," Sci. Rep. 8, 2945 (2018).
- ⁷⁰N. Pozzi, D. Bystranowska, X. Zuo, and E. Di Cera, "Structural architecture of prothrombin in solution revealed by single molecule spectroscopy," J. Biol. Chem. **291**, 18107–18116 (2016).
- ⁷¹M. T. Lai, E. Di Cera, and J. A. Shafer, "Kinetic pathway for the slow to fast transition of thrombin: Evidence of linked ligand binding at structurally distinct domains," J. Biol. Chem. **272**, 30275–30282 (1997).
- ⁷²A. D. Vogt and E. Di Cera, "Conformational selection is a dominant mechanism of ligand binding," <u>Biochemistry</u> 52, 5723–5729 (2013).
- ⁷³Y. B. Kim, S. S. Kalinowski, and J. Marcinkeviciene, "A pre-steady state analysis of ligand binding to human glucokinase: Evidence for a preexisting equilibrium," Biochemistry 46, 1423–1431 (2007).
- ⁷⁴M. Antoine, J. A. Boutin, and G. Ferry, "Binding kinetics of glucose and allosteric activators to human glucokinase reveal multiple conformational states," <u>Biochemistry</u> 48, 5466–5482 (2009).
- ⁷⁵W. Wang, B. Qin, J. A. Wojdyla, M. Wang, X. Gao, and S. Cui, "Structural characterization of free-state and product-state Mycobacterium tuberculosis methionyl-tRNA synthetase reveals an induced-fit ligand-recognition mechanism," IUCrJ 5, 478–490 (2018).
- ⁷⁶D. Michel, "Conformational selection or induced fit? New insights from old principles," Biochimie **128–129**, 48–54 (2016).
- 77 E. Di Cera, K. P. Hopfner, and Q. D. Dang, "Theory of allosteric effects in serine proteases," Biophys. J. **70**, 174–181 (1996).
- ⁷⁸J. Botts and M. Morales, "Analytical description of the effects of modifiers and of multivalency upon the steady state catalyzed reaction rate," Trans. Faraday Soc. 49, 696–707 (1953).
- ⁷⁹C. Frieden, "Kinetic aspects of regulation of metabolic processes: The hysteretic enzyme concept," J. Biol. Chem. 245, 5788–5799 (1970).
- ⁸⁰S. Cha, "Tight-binding inhibitors: III. A new approach for the determination of competition between tight-binding inhibitors and substrates-inhibition of adenosine deaminase by coformycin," Biochem. Pharmacol. 25, 2695–2702 (1976).
- ⁸¹J. R. Vane and R. M. Botting, "The mechanism of action of aspirin," Thromb. Res. 110, 255–258 (2003).
- ⁸²R. R. Yocum, D. J. Waxman, J. R. Rasmussen, and J. L. Strominger, "Mechanism of penicillin action: Penicillin and substrate bind covalently to the same active site serine in two bacterial D-alanine carboxypeptidases," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 76, 2730–2734 (1979).
- ⁸³R. W. Carrell and D. A. Lomas, "Alpha1-antitrypsin deficiency: A model for conformational diseases," N. Engl. J. Med. 346, 45–53 (2002).

- ⁸⁴S. T. Olson and P. G. Gettins, "Regulation of proteases by protein inhibitors of the serpin superfamily," Prog. Mol. Biol. Transl. Sci. **99**, 185–240 (2011).
- ⁸⁵S. T. Olson and J. D. Shore, "Demonstration of a two-step reaction mechanism for inhibition of alpha-thrombin by antithrombin III and identification of the step affected by heparin," J. Biol. Chem. 257, 14891–14895 (1982).
- ⁸⁶F. Zárate-Pérez and J. C. Hackett, "Conformational selection is present in ligand binding to cytochrome P450 19A1 lipoprotein nanodiscs," J. Inorg. Biochem. 209, 111120 (2020).
- ⁸⁷F. P. Guengerich and M. I. Fekry, "Methylene oxidation of alkyl sulfates by cytochrome P450_{BM-3} and a role for conformational selection in substrate recognition," ACS Catal. **10**, 5008–5022 (2020).
- ⁸⁸F. P. Guengerich, C. J. Wilkey, and T. T. N. Phan, "Human cytochrome P450 enzymes bind drugs and other substrates mainly through conformationalselection modes," J. Biol. Chem. **294**, 10928–10941 (2019).
- ⁸⁹N. Mast, P. Verwilst, C. J. Wilkey, F. P. Guengerich, and I. A. Pikuleva, "In vitro activation of cytochrome P450 46A1 (CYP46A1) by efavirenz-related compounds," J. Med. Chem. **63**, 6477–6488 (2020).
- 90 J. A. Martinez, Q. Xiao, A. Zakarian, and B. G. Miller, "Antidiabetic disruptors of the glucokinase-glucokinase regulatory protein complex reorganize a Coulombic interface," Biochemistry 56, 3150–3157 (2017).
- ⁹¹R. K. Kar, H. Kharerin, R. Padinhateeri, and P. J. Bhat, "Multiple conformations of Gal3 Protein drive the galactose-induced allosteric activation of the GAL genetic switch of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*," J. Mol. Biol. **429**, 158–176 (2017).
- ⁹²I. Korobko, M. Nadler-Holly, and A. Horovitz, "Transient kinetic analysis of ATP hydrolysis by the CCT/TRiC chaperonin," J. Mol. Biol. **428**, 4520–4527 (2016).
- ⁹³S. E. Halford, "*Escherichia coli* alkaline phosphatase: An analysis of transient kinetics," Biochem. J. **125**, 319–327 (1971).
- ⁹⁴L. C. James and D. S. Tawfik, "Structure and kinetics of a transient antibody binding intermediate reveal a kinetic discrimination mechanism in antigen recognition," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 102, 12730–12735 (2005).
- ⁹⁵S. Bae, D. Kim, K. K. Kim, Y. G. Kim, and S. Hohng, "Intrinsic Z-DNA is stabilized by the conformational selection mechanism of Z-DNA-binding proteins," J. Am. Chem. Soc. 133, 668–671 (2011).
 ⁹⁶A. R. Fersht and Y. Requena, "Equilibrium and rate constants for the inter-
- ⁹⁶A. R. Fersht and Y. Requena, "Equilibrium and rate constants for the interconversion of two conformations of α-chymotrypsin: The existence of a catalytically inactive conformation at neutral pH," J. Mol. Biol. **60**, 279–290 (1971).
- ⁹⁷M. E. Papaconstantinou, P. S. Gandhi, Z. Chen, A. Bah, and E. Di Cera, "Na⁺ binding to meizothrombin desF1," Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 65, 3688–3697 (2008).
- ⁹⁸L. Gombos, J. Kardos, A. Patthy, P. Medveczky, L. Szilágyi, A. Málnási-Csizmadia, and L. Gráf, "Probing conformational plasticity of the activation domain of trypsin: The role of glycine hinges," Biochemistry 47, 1675–1684 (2008).
- ⁹⁹A. D. Vogt, A. Bah, and E. Di Cera, "Evidence of the E*-E equilibrium from rapid kinetics of Na⁺ binding to activated protein C and factor Xa," J. Phys. Chem. B **114**, 16125–16130 (2010).
- 100 M. A. M. Behnam and C. D. P. Klein, "Conformational selection in the flaviviral NS2B-NS3 protease," Biochimie 174, 117–125 (2020).
- ¹⁰¹A. Kanyavuz, A. Marey-Jarossay, S. Lacroix-Desmazes, and J. D. Dimitrov, "Breaking the law: Unconventional strategies for antibody diversification," Nat. Rev. Immunol. **19**, 355–368 (2019).
- 102 N. Pozzi, A. D. Vogt, D. W. Gohara, and E. Di Cera, "Conformational selection in trypsin-like proteases," Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 22, 421–431 (2012).
- 103 J. A. Rivas-Pardo, A. Herrera-Morande, V. Castro-Fernandez, F. J. Fernandez, M. C. Vega, and V. Guixé, "Crystal structure, SAXS and kinetic mechanism of hyperthermophilic ADP-dependent glucokinase from *Thermococcus litoralis* reveal a conserved mechanism for catalysis," PLoS One 8, e66687 (2013).
- 104S. E. Halford, "Escherichia coli alkaline phosphatase: Relaxation spectra of ligand binding," Biochem. J. 126, 727–738 (1972).
- 105 S. Gianni, J. Dogan, and P. Jemth, "Distinguishing induced fit from conformational selection," Biophys. Chem. 189, 33–39 (2014).
- 106 F. Paul and T. R. Weikl, "How to distinguish conformational selection and induced fit based on chemical relaxation rates," PLoS Comput. Biol. 12, e1005067 (2016).

REVIEW

- ¹⁰⁷A. D. Vogt, P. Chakraborty, and E. Di Cera, "Kinetic dissection of the preexisting conformational equilibrium in the trypsin fold," J. Biol. Chem. 290, 22435–22445 (2015).
- ¹⁰⁸S. T. Olson, K. R. Srinivasan, I. Björk, and J. D. Shore, "Binding of high affinity heparin to antithrombin III: Stopped flow kinetic studies of the binding interaction," J. Biol. Chem. **256**, 11073–11079 (1981).
- ¹⁰⁹L. A. Pelc, S. K. Koester, Z. Chen, N. E. Gistover, and E. Di Cera, "Residues W215, E217 and E192 control the allosteric E*-E equilibrium of thrombin," Sci. Rep. 9, 12304 (2019).
- ¹⁰K. S. Chakrabarti, R. V. Agafonov, F. Pontiggia, R. Otten, M. K. Higgins, G. F. X. Schertler, D. D. Oprian, and D. Kern, "Conformational selection in a protein-protein interaction revealed by dynamic pathway analysis," Cell Rep. 14, 32–42 (2016).
- ¹¹¹J. Dogan, T. Schmidt, X. Mu, A. Engström, and P. Jemth, "Fast association and slow transitions in the interaction between two intrinsically disordered protein domains," J. Biol. Chem. 287, 34316–34324 (2012).
- ¹¹²F. J. Meyer-Almes, "Discrimination between conformational selection and induced fit protein-ligand binding using Integrated Global Fit analysis," Eur. Biophys. J. 45, 245–257 (2016).
- ¹¹³M. Sharon and A. Horovitz, "Probing allosteric mechanisms using native mass spectrometry," Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 34, 7-16 (2015).
- ¹¹⁴T. R. Weikl and C. von Deuster, "Selected-fit versus induced-fit protein binding: Kinetic differences and mutational analysis," Proteins **75**, 104–110 (2009).
- ¹¹⁵J. A. Sigrell, A. D. Cameron, and S. L. Mowbray, "Induced fit on sugar binding activates ribokinase," J. Mol. Biol. 290, 1009–1018 (1999).
- ¹¹⁶M. C. Reddy, S. K. Palaninathan, N. D. Shetty, J. L. Owen, M. D. Watson, and J. C. Sacchettini, "High resolution crystal structures of Mycobacterium tuberculosis adenosine kinase: Insights into the mechanism and specificity of this novel prokaryotic enzyme," J. Biol. Chem. 282, 27334–27342 (2007).
- ¹¹⁷S. M. Sullivan and T. Holyoak, "Enzymes with lid-gated active sites must operate by an induced fit mechanism instead of conformational selection," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 105, 13829–13834 (2008).
- ¹¹⁸R. Wolfenden, "Enzyme catalysis: Conflicting requirements of substrate access and transition state affinity," Mol. Cell. Biochem. 3, 207–211 (1974).
- ¹¹⁹J. P. Richard, "Protein flexibility and stiffness enable efficient enzymatic catalysis," J. Am. Chem. Soc. 141, 3320–3331 (2019).
- ¹²⁰J. P. Richard, T. L. Amyes, B. Goryanova, and X. Zhai, "Enzyme architecture: On the importance of being in a protein cage," Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 21, 1–10 (2014).
- ¹²¹R. K. Wierenga, E. G. Kapetaniou, and R. Venkatesan, "Triosephosphate isomerase: A highly evolved biocatalyst," Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 67, 3961–3982 (2010).
- ¹²²R. He, A. C. Reyes, T. L. Amyes, and J. P. Richard, "Enzyme architecture: The role of a flexible loop in activation of glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase for catalysis of hydride transfer," Biochemistry 57, 3227–3236 (2018).
- ¹²³A. C. Reyes, D. C. Plache, A. P. Koudelka, T. L. Amyes, J. A. Gerlt, and J. P. Richard, "Enzyme architecture: Breaking down the catalytic cage that activates orotidine 5'-monophosphate decarboxylase for catalysis," J. Am. Chem. Soc. 140, 17580–17590 (2018).
- ¹²⁴E. A. Galburt and J. Rammohan, "A kinetic signature for parallel pathways: Conformational selection and induced fit: Links and disconnects between observed relaxation rates and fractional equilibrium flux under pseudo-firstorder conditions," Biochemistry 55, 7014–7022 (2016).
- ¹²⁵K. G. Daniels, N. K. Tonthat, D. R. McClure, Y. C. Chang, X. Liu, M. A. Schumacher, C. A. Fierke, S. C. Schmidler, and T. G. Oas, "Ligand concentration regulates the pathways of coupled protein folding and binding," J. Am. Chem. Soc. 136, 822–825 (2014).
- ¹²⁶K. G. Daniels, Y. Suo, and T. G. Oas, "Conformational kinetics reveals affinities of protein conformational states," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 112, 9352–9357 (2015).
- 127 I. Smirnova, V. Kasho, X. Jiang, and H. R. Kaback, "An asymmetric conformational change in LacY," Biochemistry 56, 1943–1950 (2017).
- ¹²⁸Y. Sakata, M. Tamiya, M. Okada, and S. Akine, "Switching of recognition first and reaction first mechanisms in host-guest binding associated with chemical reactions," J. Am. Chem. Soc. 141, 15597–15604 (2019).
- ¹²⁹L. C. James and D. S. Tawfik, "Conformational diversity and protein evolution: A 60-year-old hypothesis revisited," Trends Biochem. Sci. 28, 361–368 (2003).

- ¹³⁰B. Ma, S. Kumar, C. J. Tsai, and R. Nussinov, "Folding funnels and binding mechanisms," Protein Eng. 12, 713–720 (1999).
- ¹³¹C. Tang, C. D. Schwieters, and G. M. Clore, "Open-to-closed transition in apo maltose-binding protein observed by paramagnetic NMR," Nature 449, 1078–1082 (2007).
- ¹³²N. S. Hatzakis, "Single molecule insights on conformational selection and induced fit mechanism," Biophys. Chem. 186, 46–54 (2014).
- 133J. Hutchings and G. Zanetti, "Fine details in complex environments: The power of cryo-electron tomography," Biochem. Soc. Trans. 46, 807–816 (2018).
- 134Y. Cheng, "Single-particle cryo-EM: How did it get here and where will it go?," Science 361, 876–880 (2018).
- ¹³⁵N. Greives and H. X. Zhou, "Both protein dynamics and ligand concentration can shift the binding mechanism between conformational selection and induced fit," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 111, 10197–10202 (2014).
- ¹³⁶G. G. Hammes, Y. C. Chang, and T. G. Oas, "Conformational selection or induced fit: A flux description of reaction mechanism," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 106, 13737–13741 (2009).
- ¹³⁷ R. Nussinov, B. Ma, and C. J. Tsai, "Multiple conformational selection and induced fit events take place in allosteric propagation," Biophys. Chem. 186, 22–30 (2014).
- ¹³⁸A. Sekhar, A. Velyvis, G. Zoltsman, R. Rosenzweig, G. Bouvignies, and L. E. Kay, "Conserved conformational selection mechanism of Hsp70 chaperone-substrate interactions," eLife 7, e32764 (2018).
- ¹³⁹T. R. Weikl and F. Paul, "Conformational selection in protein binding and function," Protein Sci. 23, 1508–1518 (2014).
- ¹⁴⁰W. Elings, A. Gaur, A. J. Blok, M. Timmer, H. Van Ingen, and M. Ubbink, "β-Lactamase of mycobacterium tuberculosis shows dynamics in the active site that increase upon inhibitor binding," Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 64, e02025 (2020).
- ¹⁴¹B. D. Wilson, A. A. Hariri, I. A. P. Thompson, M. Eisenstein, and H. T. Soh, "Independent control of the thermodynamic and kinetic properties of aptamer switches," Nat. Commun. **10**, 5079 (2019).
- ¹⁴²E. A. Riederer and F. I. Valiyaveetil, "Investigation of the allosteric coupling mechanism in a glutamate transporter homolog via unnatural amino acid mutagenesis," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 116, 15939–15946 (2019).
- ¹⁴³D. Ewers, T. Becher, J. P. Machtens, I. Weyand, and C. Fahlke, "Induced fit substrate binding to an archeal glutamate transporter homologue," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **110**, 12486–12491 (2013).
- ¹⁴⁴S. Gaali, A. Kirschner, S. Cuboni, J. Hartmann, C. Kozany, G. Balsevich, C. Namendorf, P. Fernandez-Vizarra, C. Sippel, A. S. Zannas, R. Draenert, E. B. Binder, O. F. Almeida, G. Rühter, M. Uhr, M. V. Schmidt, C. Touma, A. Bracher, and F. Hausch, "Selective inhibitors of the FK506-binding protein 51 by induced fit," Nat. Chem. Biol. 11, 33–37 (2015).
- 145Y. Jiang and C. G. Kalodimos, "Confirmation for conformational selection," eLife 7, e34923 (2018).
- ¹⁴⁶M. Kovermann, C. Grundstrom, A. E. Sauer-Eriksson, U. H. Sauer, and M. Wolf-Watz, "Structural basis for ligand binding to an enzyme by a conformational selection pathway," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 114, 6298–6303 (2017).
- ¹⁴⁷L. Ye, N. Van Eps, M. Zimmer, O. P. Ernst, and R. S. Prosser, "Activation of the A2A adenosine G-protein-coupled receptor by conformational selection," Nature 533, 265–268 (2016).
- ¹⁴⁸M. T. Honaker, M. Acchione, W. Zhang, B. Mannervik, and W. M. Atkins, "Enzymatic detoxication, conformational selection, and the role of molten globule active sites," J. Biol. Chem. 288, 18599–18611 (2013).
- ¹⁴⁹V. S. De Paula, K. M. Jude, S. Nerli, C. R. Glassman, K. C. Garcia, and N. G. Sgourakis, "Interleukin-2 druggability is modulated by global conformational transitions controlled by a helical capping switch," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 117, 7183–7192 (2020).
- 150 Y. Sun, S. Yin, Y. Feng, J. Li, J. Zhou, C. Liu, G. Zhu, and Z. Guo, "Molecular basis of the general base catalysis of an α/β-hydrolase catalytic triad," J. Biol. Chem. 289, 15867–15879 (2014).
- ¹⁵¹D. Balchin, L. Wallace, and H. W. Dirr, "S-nitrosation of glutathione transferase P1-1 is controlled by the conformation of a dynamic active site helix," J. Biol. Chem. 288, 14973–14984 (2013).
- ¹⁵²P. J. Rothwell, W. J. Allen, E. Sisamakis, S. Kalinin, S. Felekyan, J. Widengren, G. Waksman, and C. A. M. Seidel, "DNTP-dependent conformational

transitions in the fingers subdomain of Klentaq1 DNA polymerase: Insights into the role of the 'nucleotide-binding' state," J. Biol. Chem. **288**, 13575–13591 (2013).

- ¹⁵³M. Fassolari, L. B. Chemes, M. Gallo, C. Smal, I. E. Sánchez, and G. De Prat-Gay, "Minute time scale prolyl isomerization governs antibody recognition of an intrinsically disordered immunodominant epitope," J. Biol. Chem. 288, 13110–13123 (2013).
- ¹⁵⁴C. M. Hong, D. M. Kaphan, R. G. Bergman, K. N. Raymond, and F. D. Toste, "Conformational selection as the mechanism of guest binding in a flexible supramolecular host," J. Am. Chem. Soc. **139**, 8013–8021 (2017).
- ¹⁵⁵L. P. Yang, L. Zhang, M. Quan, J. S. Ward, Y. L. Ma, H. Zhou, K. Rissanen, and W. Jiang, "A supramolecular system that strictly follows the binding mechanism of conformational selection," Nat. Commun. 11, 2740 (2020).
- 156 J. Wyman, "The turning wheel: A study in steady states," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 72, 3983–3987 (1975).
- ¹⁵⁷H. X. Zhou, "From induced fit to conformational selection: A continuum of binding mechanism controlled by the timescale of conformational transitions," Biophys. J. 98, L15–L17 (2010).
- 158 A. Sumino, T. Sumikama, T. Uchihashi, and S. Oiki, "High-speed AFM reveals accelerated binding of agitoxin-2 to a K⁺ channel by induced fit," Sci. Adv. 5, eaax0495 (2019).
- ¹⁵⁹Y. A. Ordabayev, B. Nguyen, A. G. Kozlov, H. Jia, and T. M. Lohman, "UvrD helicase activation by MutL involves rotation of its 2B subdomain," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **116**, 16320–16325 (2019).
- ¹⁶⁰I. Kurisaki, M. Takayanagi, and M. Nagaoka, "Combined mechanism of conformational selection and induced fit in U1A-RNA molecular recognition," <u>Biochemistry</u> 53, 3646–3657 (2014).
- ¹⁶¹M. A. Morando, G. Saladino, N. D'Amelio, E. Pucheta-Martinez, S. Lovera, M. Lelli, B. López-Méndez, M. Marenchino, R. Campos-Olivas, and F. L. Gervasio, "Conformational selection and induced fit mechanisms in the binding of an anticancer drug to the c-Src kinase," Sci. Rep. 6, 24439 (2016).
- ¹⁶²A. B. Rode, T. Endoh, and N. Sugimoto, "Crowding shifts the FMN recognition mechanism of riboswitch aptamer from conformational selection to induced fit," Angew. Chem. - Int. Ed. 57, 6868–6872 (2018).
- ¹⁶³K. C. Suddala, J. Wang, Q. Hou, and N. G. Walter, "Mg²⁺ shifts ligandmediated folding of a riboswitch from induced-fit to conformational selection," J. Am. Chem. Soc. **137**, 14075–14083 (2015).
- ¹⁶⁴K. McCluskey and J. Carlos Penedo, "An integrated perspective on RNA aptamer ligand-recognition models: Clearing muddy waters," Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 19, 6921–6932 (2017).
- ¹⁶⁵T. Moschen, C. H. Wunderlich, R. Spitzer, J. Levic, R. Micura, M. Tollinger, and C. Kreutz, "Ligand-detected relaxation dispersion NMR spectroscopy: Dynamics of preQ1-RNA binding," Angew. Chem. -Int. Ed. 54, 560–563 (2015).
- 166 S. Choudhury, S. Batabyal, P. K. Mondal, P. Singh, P. Lemmens, and S. K. Pal, "Direct observation of kinetic pathways of biomolecular recognition," Chem. -A Eur. J. 21, 16172–16177 (2015).
- 167S. Sen and J. B. Udgaonkar, "Binding-induced folding under unfolding conditions: Switching between induced fit and conformational selection mechanisms," J. Biol. Chem. 294, 16942–16952 (2019).

- ¹⁶⁸D. Kohda, "Multiple partial recognitions in dynamic equilibrium in the binding sites of proteins form the molecular basis of promiscuous recognition of structurally diverse ligands," <u>Biophys. Rev.</u> 10, 421–433 (2018).
- ¹⁶⁹D. Bucher, B. J. Grant, and J. A. McCammon, "Induced fit or conformational selection? The role of the semi-closed state in the maltose binding protein," <u>Biochemistry</u> 50, 10530–10539 (2011).
- ¹⁷⁰J. Foote and C. Milstein, "Conformational isomerism and the diversity of antibodies," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **91**, 10370–10374 (1994).
- ¹⁷¹Q. Ni, J. Shaffer, and J. A. Adams, "Insights into nucleotide binding in protein kinase A using fluorescent adenosine derivatives," Protein Sci. 9, 1818–1827 (2000).
- 172 A. K. Eaton and R. C. Stewart, "Kinetics of ATP and TNP-ATP binding to the active site of CheA from Thermotoga maritima," Biochemistry 49, 5799–5809 (2010).
- 173 J. Sykora and F.-J. Meyer-Almes, "Mechanism of binding of the inhibitor (E)-3-(furan-2-yl)-N-hydroxyacrylamide to a histone deacetylase-like amidohydrolase," Biochemistry 49, 1418–1424 (2010).
- ¹⁷⁴ M. J. Jezewska, M. R. Szymanski, and W. Bujalowski, "Kinetic mechanism of the ssDNA recognition by the polymerase X from African Swine Fever Virus: Dynamics and energetics of intermediate formations," Biophys. Chem. 158, 9–20 (2011).
- 175 J. Sucharitakul, T. Wongnate, S. Montersino, W. J. H. van Berkel, and P. Chaiyen, "Reduction kinetics of 3-hydroxybenzoate 6-hydroxylase from *Rhodococcus jostii* RHA1," Biochemistry 51, 4309–4321 (2012).
- 176 J. P. Huddleston, G. K. Schroeder, K. A. Johnson, and C. P. Whitman, "A presteady state kinetic analysis of the αY60W mutant of trans-3-chloroacrylic acid dehalogenase: Implications for the mechanism of the wild-type enzyme," Biochemistry 51, 9420–9435 (2012).
- ¹⁷⁷ M. A. Moxley and D. F. Becker, "Rapid reaction kinetics of proline dehydrogenase in the multifunctional proline utilization A protein," <u>Biochemistry</u> 51, 511–520 (2012).
- 178 A. Y. Q. Zhang and S. Balasubramanian, "The kinetics and folding pathways of intramolecular G-quadruplex nucleic acids," J. Am. Chem. Soc. 134, 19297–19308 (2012).
- 179 W. Bujalowski and M. J. Jezewska, "Kinetic mechanism of nucleotide cofactor binding to *Escherichia coli* replicative helicase DnaB protein: Stopped-flow kinetic studies using fluorescent, ribose-, and base-modified nucleotide analogues," Biochemistry 39, 2106–2122 (2000).
- ¹⁸⁰G. M. Clore, "Interplay between conformational selection and induced fit in multidomain protein-ligand binding probed by paramagnetic relaxation enhancement," Biophys. Chem. **186**, 3–12 (2014).
- ¹⁸¹S. K. Whittier, A. C. Hengge, and J. P. Loria, "Conformational motions regulate phosphoryl transfer in related protein tyrosine phosphatases," Science 341, 899–903 (2013).
- 182 A. Warshel, G. Naray-Szabo, F. Sussman, and J. K. Hwang, "How do serine proteases really work?," Biochemistry 28, 3629–3637 (1989).
- 183D. Joseph, G. A. Petsko, and M. Karplus, "Anatomy of a conformational change: Hinged 'lid' motion of the triosephosphate isomerase loop," Science 249, 1425–1428 (1990).
- ¹⁸⁴H. Beach, R. Cole, M. L. Gill, and J. P. Loria, "Conservation of μs-ms enzyme motions in the apo- and substrate-mimicked state," J. Am. Chem. Soc. 127, 9167–9176 (2005).